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RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN BORROWERS AND LENDERS AND THE ARRANGER
AND AGENT BANKS

We noted already the provisions in the facility agreement which govern the
relations between the different participants.  Would you be happy with these provisions2

if you were: the agent; a lender; or the borrower? The interests of the different parties
may conflict. In some loan agreements there is an arranging bank, or arranger, which
structures the transaction, as well as an agent bank which arranges for the transmission
of moneys between the parties. 

In a recent paper, Miguel Ferreira and Pedro Matos examined relationships
between bank connections to borrowing firms and the banks’ taking on the role of
arranger of syndicated loans: 3

 Professor of Law, University of Miami School of Law, PO Box 248087, Coral Gables, FL, 33124,
1

cbradley@law.miami.edu ; http://blenderlaw.umlaw.net/ . © Caroline Bradley 2010. All rights reserved.

 If you want to read further on this issue you could look at Gavin R. Skene, Arranger Fees in
2

Syndicated Loans - A Duty to Account to Participant Banks?, 24 PENN ST. INT 'L L. REV. 59 (2005).

 Miguel A. Ferreira & Pedro Matos, W hen Banks are Insiders: Evidence from the Global
3

Syndicated Loan Market (Sept. 2008) at

http://fisher.osu.edu/fin/dice/seminars/MatosFerreira_InsiderBanks_Loans_21Sept08.pdf . A version of

http://www.treasurers.org/technical/news/trustexemptions.cfm
mailto:cbradley@law.miami.edu
http://blenderlaw.umlaw.net/
http://fisher.osu.edu/fin/dice/seminars/MatosFerreira_InsiderBanks_Loans_21Sept08.pdf%20


Bradley International Finance: Syndicated Loans II February 28, 2010

...firms tend to get more loans arranged by banks to which they are closely connected,
relative to banks without connections to the firm. Banks with a board member in firms are 12%
more likely to be picked as lead arrangers than unconnected banks, which is twice the average
probability in the sample. This is a large economic magnitude as the base probability in our
sample is that a bank has 10% probability of being chosen to provide a loan . Effects are also
sizeable for the case where bank has institutional holdings (4% increase in probability) and
even higher if the bank has a direct equity stake (25% increase in probability)...We also find
that the effect of a bank-firm connection is stronger for firms with less alternative financing
choices and those from countries with worse legal environments.
.We find that banks with board seats or with institutional holdings in the borrower firm charge a
higher interest rate spread relative to banks without connections to the firm. The effects are
also economically significant; the presence of a bank member in the firm’s board of directors is
associated with a higher spread charged to the firm of about 8 basis points (and 15 basis points
for the case of bank institutional holdings).... This finding suggests that banks are able to
"capture" the firm when they play a role in the corporate governance of the firm.... 
These effects on loan pricing are consistent with the "information rent extraction" hypothesis,
i.e. the information advantage of the insider bank may deter competition from other banks or
create a lemons problem in that other banks will be skeptical of the quality of firm that do not
use their universal bank as lead arranger ....  We also find that bank -firms connections tend to
increase lender concentration, i.e. connections have a negative and significant effect on the
number of lead arrangers and lenders used  by the borrower firm. 
Finally, we investigate the ex-post performance of firms that borrow in the syndicated loan
market. We ask the question whether firms that get loans from connected banks have less
ex-post credit risk. We find that the existence of a bank-firm connection at the time of the loan
initiation is associated with a decrease in the expected default probability (EDF from Moody's
KMV) in the year following the loan initiation. Therefore, banks with connections seem to benefit
from an improvement in the credit quality of the firms they lend to as compared to banks with no
connections. This evidence is suggestive that insider banks access private information of good
financial status of the borrower.

Participation in syndicated loan arrangements may have an impact on the
participants beyond the loan itself:

Although the study of inter-bank relationships over the past decade has documented some of
the benefits and costs of temporary alliances (such as loan syndications), much remains
unknown. For instance, do financial institutions consider syndicated loans as pure business
transactions, or do they also benefit from their relational nature in other ways? What are the
effects and consequences of alliances formed through banking syndicates? Specifically, do
these alliances lead to more formal alliances between syndicate participants, such as M&As?
Do the M&As involving parties with previous syndicate co-alliances perform better than those
without such previous co-alliances?...

this paper was published as Miguel A. Ferreira & Pedro Matos, Universal Banks and Corporate Control

Evidence from the Global Syndicated Loan Market, European Central Bank, W orking Paper no 1066 (Jul. 

2009) at http://www.ecb.int/pub/pdf/scpwps/ecbwp1066.pdf .

2

http://www.ecb.int/pub/pdf/scpwps/ecbwp1066.pdf


Bradley International Finance: Syndicated Loans II February 28, 2010

The probability of an M&A between two lenders increases significantly when the institutions
partnered in the five-year period before the M&A and the odds of a merger are higher for every
percent increase in the relative importance of the past alliances. The impact of past
relationships between the acquirer and the target is stronger for international alliances and
cross-industry mergers as well as for cases where the acquirer and target are participant and
lead, respectively, in these past alliances.4

Does the Arranger/ Agent bank/ a lender owe fiduciary duties to the borrower?

A bank which obtains confidential information about a firm may be precluded
from using that information for its own benefit. In United Pan-Europe
Communications NV v Deutsche Bank AG  UPC complained that DB had used5

confidential information it had acquired as a participant in syndicated loans to UPC in
formulating a bid to acquire another firm (in competition with UPC). The following brief
excerpt is from Lord Justice Morritt’s judgment in the Court of Appeals :

37. The fiduciary duty is alleged to have arisen from the key banking relationship formerly
existing between UPC and DB, the mutual trust and confidence without which it could not
properly operate and the requirement duly performed that UPC pass to DB confidential
information of the type referred to on a regular basis. The amended points of claim also allege
a contractual duty and a duty to the like effect to be implied from established banking practice in
both England and Germany. Before us no reliance was placed on the contractual duty as it
would not give rise to the proprietary remedy sought. We have not seen any evidence of
banking practice. ...
38. Both parties agreed that the relevant law was to be found in the judgment of Millett LJ in
Bristol and West Building Society v Mothew [1996] 4 All ER 698 at 711-712... (approved by the
Privy Council in Arklow Investments Ltd v Maclean [2000] 1 WLR 594 at 599):
'A fiduciary is someone who has undertaken to act for or on behalf of another in a particular
matter in circumstances which give rise to a relationship of trust and confidence. The
distinguishing obligation of a fiduciary is the obligation of loyalty. The principal is entitled to the
single-minded loyalty of his fiduciary. This core liability has several facets. A fiduciary must act
in good faith; he must not make a profit out of his trust; he must not place himself in a position
where his duty and his interest may conflict; he may not act for his own benefit or the benefit of
a third person without the informed consent of his principal. This is not intended to be an
exhaustive list, but it is sufficient to indicate the nature of fiduciary obligations. They are the
defining characteristics of the fiduciary. As Dr Finn pointed out in his classic work Fiduciary
Obligations (1977) p.2, he is not subject to fiduciary obligations because he is a fiduciary; it is
because he is subject to them that he is a fiduciary.'
39. In this respect Jacob J considered (para 17) that:

 Claudia Champagne & Lawrence Kryzanowski, The Impact of Past Syndicate Alliances on the
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'In Arklow Investments Ltd v Maclean [2000] 1 WLR 594, because the defendants had not
undertaken the job, it was held that they had never become fiduciaries. [Counsel for UPC]
submitted that the facts of this case were otherwise because DB had undertaken tasks for
UPC. Thus the law did make them fiduciaries. As I have said I am not convinced that the
present evidence would justify such a conclusion in relation to anything to do with
TeleColumbus. No doubt DB would be fiduciaries in relation to the matters undertaken. What is
really at stake here is the width of those fiduciary obligations and, in particular, whether they
extend well beyond those tasks. As I say that will involve a fuller investigation of those tasks
and of banking practice."
40. In this passage the judge recognises, and I agree, that DB was under some fiduciary duty to
UPC the scope of which could only be determined at the trial. A similar problem arose in New
Zealand Netherlands Society 'Oranje' Inc v Kuys [1973] 2 All ER 1222 ...The question was
whether the conduct complained of came within the scope of the defendant's fiduciary duty as
an officer of the society... Lord Wilberforce noted that a person in the position of Kuys might be
in a fiduciary position quoad a part of his activities and not quoad other parts, 'each transaction,
or group of transactions, must be looked at'. He approved as a principle of general application
the statement of Dixon J in Birtchnell v Equity Trustees, Executors and Agency Co Ltd (1929)
42 CLR 384 at 408 that:
'The subject matter over which the fiduciary obligations extend is determined by the character
of the venture or undertaking for which the partnership exists, and this is to be ascertained, not
merely from the express agreement of the parties . . . but also from the course of dealing
actually pursued by the firm.'
41. As I understood him counsel for DB did not disagree. He accepted that, for example, having
lent money to UPC for the acquisition by UPC of Telekabel NV, DB was precluded from then
bidding for Telekabel NV in competition with UPC. Thus the issue is not the existence of the
fiduciary duty but of its scope. That issue is one that is largely dependent on the facts and
cannot be resolved at this stage. Accordingly in my view the court must approach this
application on the footing that there is a seriously arguable case for breach of fiduciary duty as
well as misuse of confidential information.

Cases in the US have suggested different views about whether investment
banks were subject to fiduciary duties. For example, in EBCI Inc v Goldman Sachs 
the New York Court of Appeals found that claims that Goldman Sachs had breached
fiduciary duties as an underwriter of a securities offering survived a motion to dismiss:

Goldman Sachs argues that the relationship between an issuer and underwriter is an
arms-length commercial relation from which fiduciary duties may not arise. It may well be true
that the underwriting contract, in which Goldman Sachs agreed to buy shares and resell them,
did not in itself create any fiduciary duty. However, a cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty
may survive, for pleading purposes, where the complaining party sets forth allegations that,
apart from the terms of the contract, the underwriter and issuer created a relationship of higher
trust than would arise from the underwriting agreement alone.
Here, the complaint alleges an advisory relationship that was independent of the underwriting
agreement. Specifically, plaintiff alleges eToys was induced to and did repose confidence in
Goldman Sachs's knowledge and expertise to advise it as to a fair IPO price and engage in
honest dealings with eToy's best interest in mind. Essentially, according to the complaint, eToys
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hired Goldman Sachs to give it advice for the benefit of the company, and Goldman Sachs
thereby had a fiduciary obligation to disclose any conflict of interest concerning the pricing of
the IPO. Goldman Sachs breached this duty by allegedly concealing from eToys its divided
loyalty arising from its profit-sharing arrangements with clients.
Contrary to Goldman Sachs's contention, recognition of a fiduciary duty to this limited extent --
requiring disclosure of Goldman Sachs's compensation arrangements with its customers - - is
not in conflict with an underwriter's general duty to investors under the Securities Act of 1933 to
exercise due diligence in the preparation of a registration statement... An obligation not to
conceal from the issuer private arrangements made with a group of potential investors does not
compromise Goldman Sachs's charge to be truthful in its public disclosure regarding the
issuer's business. For similar reasons, we do not share the dissent's concern that upholding an
issuer's fiduciary duty claim against an underwriter "potentially conflicts with a highly complex
regulatory framework designed to safeguard investors" ... Recognizing a common law remedy,
under these circumstances, will not hinder the efforts being expended to regulate in this area....
Goldman Sachs warns that to find a fiduciary relationship in this case may have a significant
impact on the underwriting industry. We think its concern is overstated. To the extent that
underwriters function, among other things, as expert advisors to their clients on market
conditions, a fiduciary duty may exist. We stress, however, that the fiduciary duty we recognize
is limited to the underwriter's role as advisor. We do not suggest that underwriters are
fiduciaries when they are engaged in activities other than rendering expert advice. When they
do render such advice, the requirement to disclose to the issuers any material conflicts of
interest that render the advice suspect should not burden them unduly.
Accepting the complaint's allegations as true, as the Court must at this stage, plaintiff has
sufficiently stated a claim for breach of fiduciary duty. This holding is not at odds with the
general rule that fiduciary obligations do not exist between commercial parties operating at
arms' length -- even sophisticated counseled parties -- and we intend no damage to that
principle. Under the complaint here, however, the parties are alleged to have created their own
relationship of higher trust beyond that which arises from the underwriting agreement alone,
which required Goldman Sachs to deal honestly with eToys and disclose its conflict of interest --
the alleged profitsharing arrangement with prospective investors in the IPO.

Judge Read, dissenting, said:

This new fiduciary obligation wars against our precedent and potentially conflicts with a highly
complex regulatory framework designed to safeguard investors...we have..until today.. refrained
from injecting fiduciary obligations into sophisticated, counseled parties' arm's length
commercial dealings. In refusing to fashion a "newly-notched fiduciary-like duty" for finders in
Northeast Gen. Corp. v Wellington Adv. (82 NY2d 158, 161 [1993]), we remarked that "[i]f the
parties find themselves or place themselves in the milieu of the 'workaday' mundane
marketplace, and if they do not create their own relationship of higher trust, courts should not
ordinarily transport them to the higher realm of relationship and fashion the stricter duty for
them."...In allowing plaintiff's claim for breach of fiduciary duty to go forward, the majority
disregards that eToys was a sophisticated, well-counseled business entity... Further, the
offering price was a key term in the underwriting agreement, a purchase contract between
eToys, the issuer/seller, and Goldman, the underwriter/buyer, who represented all the
underwriters in the syndicate. How may a buyer ever owe a duty of the highest trust and
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confidence to a seller regarding a negotiated purchase price? The interests of a buyer and
seller are inevitably not the same. Indeed, it is a longstanding principle of contract law that a
buyer may make a binding contract to buy something that it knows its seller undervalues...
Here, eToys' prospectus acknowledged that the "initial public offering price for the common
stock has been negotiated among eToys and the representatives of the underwriters"
(emphasis added). Contrary to plaintiff's allegation, eToys also represented in the prospectus
that the offering price was not driven by anticipated demand alone. The other factors that came
into play were "eToys' historical performance, estimates of eToys' business potential and
earnings prospects, an assessment of eToys' management and the consideration of the above
factors in relation to market valuation of companies in related businesses." Further, eToys'
prospectus identified four "principal purposes" for the IPO: to increase working capital, create a
public market for its stock, facilitate future access to the public capital markets, and increase
visibility in the retail marketplace. By selling only 8.2% of its outstanding common stock at $20 a
share, eToys raised the capital called for by its business plan.
In short, the offering price was not "set" by Goldman, it was negotiated by sophisticated,
represented parties—the issuer/seller and the underwriter/buyer; the offering price was
negotiated with reference to more than "then current market conditions" and "anticipated
demand"; and eToys did not seek to negotiate an offering price solely to maximize the proceeds
raised in the offering. Documentary evidence in the record confirms all these points, and the
nature of the contractual relationship between an issuer and an underwriter is long-established
and well-understood...
How our new fiduciary duty for underwriters may fit into or conflict with the developing
regulatory scheme is impossible to predict. We have, however, at the very least introduced
uncertainty into a complex subject of enormous importance to investors. This subject is, in my
view, better dealt with by specialized regulators than by the evolving common law..

The Loan Syndications and Trading Association (LSTA) expressed concern
about this decision:

This opinion is of potential concern to the loan market for a number of reasons.  For the first
time, the highest New York court has, as the dissent argued, injected “fiduciary obligations into
sophisticated, counseled parties’ arms-length commercial dealings.”   Although this decision
applied to a securities underwriting, it was based on New York common law, not federal or state
securities statutes, and therefore could potentially apply equally to the relationship between
borrowers and underwriters of large corporate loans.  It is particularly relevant because New
York law is frequently chosen as the governing law for large syndicated corporate loans.
In light of the Court of Appeal’s decision, underwriters of syndicated corporate loans may seek
to protect themselves against a borrower’s claim of breach of fiduciary duty by expressly
disclaiming any fiduciary duties as advisor or otherwise.  These disclaimers should be included
at the outset in engagement and commitment letters that govern the parties’ relationships, and
should make clear that the underwriter will not assume any fiduciary duties.
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In HF Management Services LLC v. Pistone,  the New York Appellate Division6

emphasized that the Court of Appeals in the Goldman Sachs case had said that the
underwriter/issuer relationship is not usually a fiduciary relationship:

In the case at bar, nothing in the record even remotely suggests that the relationship between
Morgan Stanley and WellCare rose above the typical contractual relationship of an underwriting
agreement between a buyer and a seller. Both parties were separately counseled. In fact, the
underwriting agreement specifically identified EBG as the "special regulatory counsel for the
underwriters" and acknowledged that another law firm was serving as outside counsel for
WellCare. Certainly, there is no indication or suggestion that Morgan and WellCare enjoyed any
type of pre-existing relationship, or that Morgan acted as an "expert advisor on market
conditions" to WellCare in the same way that Goldman Sachs apparently advised eToys..  

In 2008, the 7  Circuit held in Joyce v Morgan Stanley  that the bank whichth 7

had issued a fairness opinion with respect to a merger did not have a fiduciary duty to
shareholders to advise them to hedge the shares:

...we see no way that the Shareholders can show that their relationship with Morgan Stanley
possessed the “special  circumstances” necessary to give rise to an extra-contractual fiduciary
duty. One such necessary “circumstance” is that the allegedly superior party must have
accepted a duty to guard the interests of the dependent party. Pommier v. Peoples Bank
Marycrest, 967 F.2d 1115, 1119 (7th Cir. 1992) (“The fact that one party trusts the other is
insufficient. We trust most people with whom we choose to do business.The dominant party
must accept the responsibility, accept the trust of the other party before a court can find a
fiduciary relationship.”)...
The exhibits leave no doubt that Morgan Stanley did not accept any such responsibility, and so
no fiduciary duty toward the Shareholders ever arose. The engagement letter, which defines the
advising relationship, explicitly noted that Morgan Stanley was working only for the corporation:
“Morgan Stanley will act under this letter agreement as an independent contractor with duties
solely to 21st Century.” ... “We have acted as financial advisor to the Company in connection
with this transaction . . . .” ...
The fairness opinion also disclaimed a duty to the Shareholders: 
It is understood that this letter is for the information of the Board of Directors of the Company,
except that this opinion may be included in its entirety in any filing required to be made by the
Company in respect of the Merger. Morgan Stanley expresses no opinion as to the relative
valuations of each of the voting and non-voting 21st Century Common Stock and the 21st
Century Preferred Stock. In addition, this opinion does not in any manner address the prices at
which the RCN Common Stock will trade following announcement or consummation of the
proposed Merger, and Morgan Stanley expresses no opinion or recommendation as to how the
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holders of the 21  Century Common Stock should vote at the shareholders’ meetings held inst

connection with the Merger....
Thus, Morgan Stanley never owed any contractual nor extra-contractual duty to the
Shareholders.

Does the Arranger/ Agent bank owe fiduciary or other duties to the lenders?

The loan agreement will seek to limit obligations of the arranger in different ways.
One set of limitations focuses on the obligation of the lenders to make their own credit
assessments. In general courts are likely to uphold these provisions. In Bank of the
West v Valley National Bank of Arizona, 41 F.3d 471 (1994) a case arising out of a
loan participation the 9  Circuit said this:th

...Valley National acted as though the relationship was that of a lead bank doing all the
investigation and exercising all the judgment, and the participating bank passively investing in
the lead bank's lending program. Valley National's problem is that regardless of what they
actually did, the banks expressly agreed to a relationship in which each would investigate
independently and exercise independent judgment. There was no lack of clarity in the contract,
no mutual mistake, no reason to suppose that the parties mutually intended any relationship
other than what the contract said. The loan participation agreement expressly provided that the
Bank of the West "does not assume and shall have no responsibility or liability" for Technical
Equities' financial condition, the collateral, or collectibility of the loan. Valley National agreed
that it "independently and without reliance upon any representations of Lender . . . made and
relied upon [its] own credit analysis and judgment." Valley National promised to "continue to
make and rely upon" its own decisions "independently and without reliance upon" Bank of the
West.
Those are plain and strong words. The most favorable characterization of Valley National's
conduct which the evidence allows is that it promised not to rely on Bank of the West, but then
did in fact rely on Bank of the West. That necessarily implies that, to the extent that it did rely
on Bank of the West, Valley National's reliance was not justifiable.
The contract could as a practical matter only control litigation outcomes, not conduct. Valley
National might choose to advance millions of dollars without making an independent credit
evaluation, in reliance on Bank of the West's judgment, even though it promised not to do that.
That might be a rational business judgment, if experience with Bank of the West had always
been very good, Technical Equities looked good, and an independent evaluation would cost
more money than the value of the risk which it would likely avert. But the contract could and did
control whether such reliance would be "justifiable" for purposes of a fraud claim... 

Other provisions limit the liability of an agent bank in relation to various aspects of the
loan relationship:

8
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Chemical Bank v Security Pacific National Bank8

That Security Pacific owed a fiduciary duty to the plaintiffs is established by the credit
agreement of April 8, 1983 which unequivocally identifies Security Pacific as the agent bank.
The very meaning of being an agent is assuming fiduciary duties to one's principal.
Restatement (Second) of Agency § 1(1). The holding of this court in First Citizens Federal
Savings and Loan Association v. Worthen Bank and Trust Co., 919 F.2d 510 (9th Cir. 1990),
which requires "unequivocal contractual language" to create a fiduciary duty, is not to the
contrary. In that case the bank was the principal lender and was identified as "an independent
contractor." Id. at 512, 514. There was no intention on the part of this court to abandon "the
special concern common law courts have traditionally and consistently exhibited to supervise
and enforce fiduciary relationships," including the fiduciary relationship when one bank acts as
the agent for another bank. Women's Federal Savings and Loan Association v. Nevada
National Bank, 811 F.2d 1255, 1258 (9th Cir. 1987).
Impressed with a fiduciary responsibility, Security Pacific failed to carry it out. Beyond question,
it breached its duty and its contract. Beyond question it acted negligently. But there is no law
against parties to a contract relieving themselves of liability by contract, particularly when they
are sophisticated institutions represented by knowledgeable counsel. The credit agreement that
all three banks signed went a long ways toward relieving Security Pacific of what it might
otherwise have been expected to do. It was explicitly not required to "be responsible in any
manner" for the "enforceability" of the credit agreement. According to the credit agreement, it
was liable only for its "own gross negligence or willful misconduct."....
It is, no doubt, odd that three sophisticated lending institutions would enter into an agreement
with themselves that puts the responsibility on their agent in such a doubtful state that lay
persons, chosen more or less at random, are to be the ones to determine whether the
responsibility was met. But if these banks chose to operate their business in this way, it is not
the court's function to provide a judge to determine a question that properly belongs to a trier of
fact.

The context seems to be significant. Courts are likely to be less willing to decide
that fiduciary duties arise in the context of arm’s length commercial transactions
between sophisticated parties than in other cases. Do you think that this is the
right approach?

Gavin Skene, an Australian lawyer, has written:9

The complex relationships formed between the arranger, the borrower and the participant
banks under a syndicated loan exposes the arranger to considerable legal risk. The nature of
the role assumed by the arranger under these relationships is often competing and adverse to
the interests of each other party, including the arranger's own self interests, under the
syndicated loan.
This position is especially true where an arranger has also been appointed as agent bank under

 20 F.3d 375 (9  Cir 1994)th8

 See note 
9

2 above.
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a syndicated loan because its duties and obligations will "shift" primarily from the borrower and
possibly the participant banks to just the participant banks when one role ceases and the other
commences. Accordingly, there may be circumstances where it is unclear as to whom the
arranger owes certain duties, the length of time that the duties are owed, or whether such
duties have merged....
Modern courts of common law jurisdictions have wrangled generally with the expansion of the
law of equity into the province of commerce. The inherent incompatibility between equity, which
promotes fairness and justice on the one hand, and commerce, which protects self-
advancement and self-promotion on the other, can be clearly illustrated in the case of the
invocation by a court of a fiduciary relationship between an arranger and the participant banks
under a syndicated loan.
It is generally accepted that the relationship between an arranger and a participant bank falls
outside the boundaries of the established fiduciary relationship categories. Therefore, an
Australian court must have regard to the relevant jurisprudence relating to the intrusion of the
fiduciary relationship into commercial transactions when considering whether or not the
character of the relationship between an arranger and participant bank is one that exhibits the
necessary characteristics present in a fiduciary relationship.
Given the size and volume of syndicated loans made in the global marketplace each year, it is
surprising that there is little authoritative case law in common law jurisdictions that examines the
set of legal relationships between the actors of a syndicated loan generally and the legal rights
and obligations that flow between an arranger and the participant banks specifically....
...arrangers of syndicated loans should be mindful that if it is determined that the benefit to any
arranger fees was enjoyed by an arranger in its capacity as agent bank and not as arranger of
a syndicated loan, there is a risk that the said arranger will owe equitable duties to account to
the participant banks for the receipt of such arranger fees procured in its capacity as agent for
the participant banks.

In Sumitomo Bank Ltd v Banque Bruxelles Lambert SA [1997] 1 Lloyd's Rep 487
(QBD, Langley J.), the court found that the fact that BBL owed limited duties as agent
under the loan agreement did not prevent a wider duty of care from arising out of the
relationship between the parties. In this case the loans were to finance the purchase of
commercial property, and there were mortgage indemnity guaranty policies (MIGs)
underwritten by Eagle Star which would protect the banks against losses if the borrower
defaulted on the loans. After default Eagle Star argued that the MIGs were void for non-
disclosure. The banks argued that BBL as arranger of the loans had a duty to ensure
that the borrower performed its disclosure obligations under the MIGs. BBL argued that
the terms of the loan agreement were inconsistent with the duty of care, implied terms
and fiduciary duties that the banks were arguing for. BBL also argued that there was a
clear market practice that unless there was a specific written warranty or assurance an
arranging bank did not owe duties to participating banks. Consider the following excerpt
from the judgment:
 
(2) Duty of care
Two basic approaches to the question whether in a given case a duty of care arises can be
discerned from the leading authorities. The first can be summarized in the familiar rubric of

10
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foreseeability, proximity, and whether the imposition of a duty of care would be fair, just and
reasonable. The second can be summarized in the words "voluntary assumption of
responsibility". In this case, I do not think it matters which approach is taken as in my judgment
the result is the same on either basis but I will set out what I think to be the major statements of
principle supporting the two approaches.
First, Caparo Industries Plc v Dickman, [1990] 2 AC 605. I need not state the facts. The
principles are to be found in the speeches of Lord Bridge at pp 620-621 and Lord Oliver at p
638.
Lord Bridge said:

The salient feature of all these cases (cases where a duty of care had been held
to arise) is that the defendant giving advice or information was fully aware of the
nature of the transaction which the plaintiff had in contemplation, knew that the
advice or information would be communicated to him directly or indirectly and
knew that it was very likely that the plaintiff would rely on that advice or
information in deciding whether or not to engage in the transaction in
contemplation. In these circumstances the defendant could clearly be expected,
subject always to any disclaimer of responsibility, specifically to anticipate that
the plaintiff would rely on the advice or information given by the defendant for the
very purpose for which he did in the event rely on it. So also the plaintiff, subject
again to the effect of any disclaimer, would in that situation reasonably suppose
that he was entitled to rely on that advice or information communicated to him for
the very purpose for which he required it. The situation is entirely different where
a statement is put into more or less general circulation and may foreseeably be
relied on by strangers to the maker of the statement for any one of a variety of
different purposes which the maker of the statement has no specific reason to
anticipate.

Lord Oliver said:
What can be deduced from the Hedley Byrne case, therefore, is that the
necessary relationship between the maker of a statement or giver of advice ("the
adviser") and the recipient who acts upon it ("the advisee") may typically by held
to exist where (1) the advice is required for a purpose, whether particularly
specified or generally described, which is made known, either actually or
inferentially, to the adviser at the time when the advice is given; (2) the adviser
knows, either actually or inferentially, that his advice will be communicated to the
advisee, either specifically or as a member of an ascertainable class, in order
that it should be used by the advisee for that purpose; (3) it is known either
actually or inferentially, that the advice so communicated is likely to be acted
upon by the advisee for that purpose without independent enquiry, and (4) it is so
acted upon by the advisee to his detriment.

Second, the approach in Henderson v Merrett Syndicates Ltd, [1994] 2 Lloyd's Rep 468; [1995]
2 AC 145 namely, whether it can be said that the defendant voluntarily assumed or undertook
responsibility to the plaintiff in respect of the subject-matter of the representation. After an
analysis of the speeches in Hedley Byrne, Lord Goff at pp 488-489; pp 180-181 said:
From these statements, and from their application in Hedley Byrne, we can derive some
understanding of the breadth of the principle underlying the case. We can see that it rests upon
a relationship between the parties, which may be general or specific to the particular
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transaction, and which may or may not be contractual in nature. All of their Lordships spoke in
terms of one party having assumed or undertaken responsibility towards the other . . . Again
though Hedley Byrne was concerned with the provision of information and advice, the example
given by Lord Devlin of the relationship between solicitor and client, and his and Lord Morris's
statement of principle, show that the principle extends beyond the provision of information and
advice to include the performance of other services. It follows, of course, that although, in the
case of the provision of information and advice, reliance upon it by the other party will be
necessary to establish a cause of action (because otherwise the negligence will have no
causative effect), nevertheless there may be other circumstances in which there will be the
necessary reliance to give rise to the application of the principle. In particular, as cases
concerned with solicitors and client demonstrate, where the plaintiff entrusts the defendant with
the conduct of his affairs, in general or in particular, he may be held to have relied on the
defendant to exercise due skill and care in such conduct.
. . . Furthermore, especially in a context concerned with a liability which may arise under a
contract or in a situation "equivalent to contract", it must be expected that an objective test will
be applied when asking the question whether, in a particular case, responsibility should be held
to have been assumed by the defendant to the plaintiff: See Caparo per Lord Oliver.
Lord Goff also addressed the relevance of the contractual context to the principles he had
stated. He held that in principle the existence of concurrent remedies in contract and tort was
established in law and that (at p 498, col 1; p 194):
. . . an assumption of responsibility coupled with the concomitant reliance may give rise to a
tortious duty of care irrespective of whether there is a contractual relationship between the
parties, and in consequence unless his contract precludes him from doing so, the plaintiff who
has available to him concurrent remedies in contract and tort may choose that remedy which
appears to him to be the most advantageous.
Those words must, in my judgment, apply a fortiori to circumstances where the relevant
relationship and assumption of responsibility arises (if it arises) before the contract comes into
existence and the relevant duty in tort should in practical terms have been performed at the
time the contract was concluded. That was the position as regards the obligation of disclosure
in this case and, moreover, as I have held, the relevant contract, namely the loan agreement,
was not addressing that obligation nor inconsistent with it.
That this is so is further illustrated by the unreported decision of the Court of Appeal in Holt v
Payne Skillington and De Groot Collis, Dec 18,1995. That decision demonstrates that a duty of
care can be owed in tort which is more extensive than the express or implied obligations to be
derived from the terms of the contract made between the same parties. Lord Justice Hirst in
giving the judgment of the Court said (at p 15), after referring to the passage from the speech
of Lord Goff in Henderson v Merrett to which I have referred:
. . . as Lord Goff made clear . . . it will frequently be the case that the relevant assumption of
responsibility does occur within a contractual context. That fact does not mean that it must
necessarily do so simply because, at some stage during the relevant course of dealing between
the parties, they choose to and do enter into some form of contract. A consideration of the
individual facts and circumstances of each case will determine whether any duty of care in tort
which the general law may impose is of wider scope than any contract to which the same
parties may agree at some stage during the same course of dealing. It is important to
emphasise that the duty of care in tort is, in appropriate circumstances, imposed by the general
law, whereas the contractual obligations result from the common intentions of the parties. In our
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opinion, there is no reason in principle why a Hedley Byrne type duty of care cannot arise in an
overall set of circumstances where, by reference to certain limited aspects of those
circumstances, the same parties enter into a contractual relationship involving more limited
obligations than those imposed by the duty of care in tort. In such circumstances, the duty of
care in tort and the duties imposed by the contract will be concurrent but not coextensive. The
difference in scope between the two will reflect the more limited factual basis which gave rise to
the contract and the absence of any term in that contract which precludes or restricts the wider
duty of care in tort.
Those words, in my judgment, apply here where the loan agreement established and looked
forward to the role of BBL as agent bank but did not relate to or look back to their role as
arranging bank prior to the agreement.
BBL was putting together the transactions and had an interest in getting the banks to participate
in them and indeed was being rewarded for that role. Mr Fraser himself readily acknowledged
that the MIGs were for each of the banks a key part of the transaction and that he knew at the
time that if BBL did not comply with the disclosure obligation in the policies Eagle Star could
avoid the policies which would have the consequence for each of the banks that they would be
unable to enforce them. MrFraser agreed that it would also have been obvious to the banks that
that was so. While asserting his belief that the duty of disclosure rested on each of the banks
he said he thought each of the banks, including BBL, had a duty of care "on one another" in
effect to avoid that consequence. He agreed that the banks could not know or verify whether
BBL had complied with the disclosure obligation and that each of the banks in each transaction
relied on BBL to perform that obligation and he knew at the time that they did so. In addition it
was his view, as it was the view of the banks, that the disclosure obligation was not an
exceptional or onerous one and of course not only had it been negotiated by BBL but it was no
greater than the "obligation" BBL in effect owed to itself in its own interests to establish the
efficacy of the policy. The fact that Mr Fraser or BBL may have believed that the arrangements
were "non-recourse" is in these circumstances of no materiality. That was not communicated to
the banks and the test of duty is objective.
On the other side, the banks had to rely on BBL performing the disclosure obligation as it was
(as I have held) tailored to BBL's own procedures. Each bank expected and relied on BBL to
perform the obligation and believed it would and indeed, and understandably, hardly
contemplated that it would not do so. That expectation and reliance was in my judgment entirely
reasonable.
In these circumstances I think the relationship between BBL and the plaintiff banks was, to use
the words of Lord Goff in Henderson v Merrett, a "classic example" of a relationship where a
duty of care did arise on BBL to the banks as regards the performance of the disclosure
obligations under the MIGs.
There was an assumption of responsibility by BBL to the banks to perform that duty. BBL was
"the arranger" of the facility. It assumed as such the obligation to negotiate and agree the MIGs
with Eagle Star. It did so on terms whereby, as I have held, it and it alone was the insured
under the policy and it and it alone had and could perform the disclosure obligation provided for
in it which depended on its own expert procedures and its skill and judgment in deciding what
should be disclosed to Eagle Star. BBL knew the validity of the policies depended on its proper
performance of that obligation. It knew the policies were vital to the interests both of itself and
the banks and that the banks were dependent upon it for the performance of the disclosure
obligation which effectively was entrusted to it in all their interests. The banks relied on BBL
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accordingly as BBL knew they would. Loss to the banks if the duty was not performed was
foreseeable and indeed foreseen by BBL. The duty arose in the context of the specific purpose
of the loan transactions. Nor, for the reasons I have given, do I think the existence of a duty of
care does any violence to or is in any way inconsistent with any market practice or the
provisions of the loan agreements.
For these reasons in my judgment, and whether one approaches the matter by way of Caparo
or Henderson v Merrett, the answer is the same. BBL owed the plaintiff banks a duty of care in
carrying out the disclosure obligation under the policies in relation to both the Cornlease and
Bridgecirc transactions.

Is the judge in Sumitomo v BBL generally just unfriendly to the idea of a limitation
of liability, or do you think that BBL could have effectively protected itself against
liability in this case? Why did it not do so?

IFE Fund SA v Goldman Sachs International  seems to suggest that the Sumitomo10

case must be read narrowly and to apply only to its specific facts. In IFE v Goldman
Sachs, the English Court of Appeal considered the effect of a notice which limited
Goldman Sachs’ (GSI’s) responsibilities with respect to information contained in a
Syndication Information Memorandum (SIM) for the issuance of debt securities. Lord
Justice Waller’s judgment contains the language of the notice:

13 By its defence GSI also relied on the terms of the "Important Notice" under cover of which
the SIM was provided to IFE and all possible participants. That notice contained standard terms
under which arrangers and underwriters in the world of syndicated finance provide SIMs.
Indeed as explored in some detail in cross-examination, they are the standard terms adopted
by IFE when it acts as arranger or underwriter. The important terms are the following,
numbered for convenience:-
    "(i) The information contained in this Memorandum has been obtained from the Sponsors,
Autodistribution, Finelist, professional consultants and/or public sources. The Sponsors have
approved the information obtained from them and its inclusion in this Memorandum, and have
authorised the distribution of this Memorandum. None of this Memorandum, the information
contained in it or any other information supplied in connection with the Facilities shall form the
basis of any contract. Any future prospective co-underwriter or participant in the Facilities will be
required to acknowledge in the Facilities contract that it has not relied on, or been induced to
enter such agreement by, any representation or warranty, save as expressly set out in such
agreement.
    (ii) The Arranger has not independently verified the information set out in this Memorandum.
Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no
responsibility is accepted by Goldman Sachs International, nor any of their holding companies,
subsidiaries, associated undertakings or controlling persons, nor any of their respective
directors, officers, partners, employees, agents, representatives or advisors as to or in relation
to the accuracy or completeness or otherwise of this Memorandum or as to the reasonableness

 [2007] EW CA Civ 811 and at 
10

http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EW CA/Civ/2007/811.html .
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of any assumption contained therein or any other information made available in connection with
the Facilities (whether in writing or orally) to any interested party (or its advisers). These
disclaimers by the Arranger shall, for the avoidance of doubt, apply (without limitation) to the
Valuation and Exit Strategy in Section IX of the Memorandum. Neither the Arranger nor any of
its respective directors, officers, employees, agents, partners or professional advisers shall be
liable for any direct, indirect or consequential loss or damage suffered by any person as a result
of relying on any statement contained in this Memorandum or any such other information.
    (iii) The information contained in this Memorandum should not be assumed to have been
updated at any time subsequent to the date shown on the cover hereof and the distribution of
this Memorandum does not constitute a representation by any person that such information will
be updated at any time after the date of this memorandum. The Arranger expressly does not
undertake to review the financial condition, status or affairs of Autodistribution, Finelist or any of
their affiliates or any obligor in respect of the facilities, at any time or to advise any potential or
actual participant in the Facilities of any information coming to the attention of the Arranger.

Lord Justice Waller wrote:

26. IFE have at all times made clear that they are not alleging dishonesty against GSI. Mr
Howard for GSI has on the other hand from GSI's side made clear that he does not argue that
the standard terms would allow GSI to act dishonestly. It was no doubt this concession which
lead the judge to say what he did about an implied representation as to good faith...
27.  As debate before us illustrated it is not that easy to define "dishonesty" or what might or
might not be "in good faith" in a vacuum. Until one has identified what, if any, representations
were being made or what duty of disclosure was owed one cannot really say what would or
would not be honest or in bad faith. Furthermore if the decision were to be that there was a duty
to disclose by virtue of what GSI had set out in the SIM, but GSI were honestly not aware of
that duty, then their conduct might not as I would see it be dishonest...
28. I can start by clearing one or two issues out of the way. First it seems to me that the
argument that there was some free standing duty of care owed by GSI to IFE in this case is in
the light of the terms of the Important Notice hopeless. Nothing could be clearer than that GSI
were not assuming any responsibility to the participants: Hedley Byrne v Heller & Partners
[1964] A.C. 465. The foundation for liability for negligent misstatements demonstrates that
where the terms on which someone is prepared to give advice or make a statement negatives
any assumption of responsibility, no duty of care will be owed. Although there might be cases
where the law would impose a duty by virtue of a particular state of facts despite an attempt not
"to assume responsibility" the relationship between GSI either as arranger or as vendor would
not be one of them. 

In the same case, Lord Justice Gage wrote:

67. For my part, I accept.. that the question of what representation, if any, was made by
Goldman Sachs, must be considered by reference to the terms of the Important Notice in the
SIM. The Notice expressly states that Goldman Sachs have not independently verified the
information set out in it. It also states that it accepts no responsibility for the accuracy or
completeness of the information contained in it. It must inevitably follow that no representation
is made as to the accuracy or completeness of the Arthur Andersen reports of December 1999
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and February 2000.
68 In my view, the third cited paragraph of the Important Notice rules out any representation
that the information will be reviewed at any stage before the recipient acquires bonds. This is
clear from the final sentence of that paragraph.
69 In my judgment, on the face of it, this relieves Goldman Sachs of any obligation to carry out
any investigation of its own into the information provided in the SIM either at the stage SIM was
issued or before an acquisition was made by a recipient of it.
70 Turning to the authorities, Mr Nash relied on four in support of his submissions: Smith v
Land & House Property Corporation [1884] 28 Ch D 7; With v O'Flanagan [1936] Ch 575;
Hummingbird Motors Ltd v Hobbs 1986 RTR 296; Sumitomo Bank v BBL [1997] 1 Lloyds Reps
487.
71... The facts in Sumitomo Bank are quite different and again I draw no assistance from it.
72 With v O'Flanagan is of some significance. It supports the proposition that when a
representation has been made and the representor subsequently learns that it is not true he
has a duty to correct the representation. Romer LJ said ...:
    "The only principal invoked by the appellants in this case is as follows. If A with a view to
inducing B to enter into a contract makes a representation as to a material fact, then if at a later
date and before the contract is actually entered into, owing to a change of circumstances, the
representation then made would to the knowledge of A be untrue and B subsequently enters
into the contract in ignorance of that change of circumstances and relying upon that
representation, A cannot hold B to the bargain. There is ample authority for that statement and,
indeed, I doubt myself whether any authority is necessary, it being, it seems to me, so obviously
consistent with the plainest principles of equity."
73 In the same case Lord Wright MR described that situation as one that might be described as
fraud. He added..:
    "… though nowadays, the Court is more reluctant to use the word "fraud" and would not
generally use the word "fraud" in that connection because the failure to disclose, though wrong
and a breach of duty, may be due to inadvertence or a failure to realise that the duty rests upon
the party who had made the representation not to leave the other party under an error when the
representation has become falsified by change of circumstances."
74 My final conclusions on this issue are as follows. The only implied representation made by
Goldman Sachs arising out of the SIM was as the judge found one of good faith. There was, in
my judgment, no implied representation that the information provided in the Arthur Andersen
reports annexed to the SIM was accurate. There was an express statement that Goldman
Sachs would not review or check the information contained in the SIM. In my view, it follows
that it is only if Goldman Sachs actually knew that it had in its possession information which
made the information in the SIM misleading that it could be liable for breach of the
representation of good faith, provided the necessary intention was proved. In effect this would
amount to an allegation of dishonesty.
75 The judge held that the implied representation of good faith was a continuing representation.
However, in my judgment, that must be seen in the context of the sentence in the SIM which
states that Goldman Sachs will not review the information contained in the SIM. It seems to me
that this underlines the necessity for IFE to plead and show dishonest conduct by Goldman
Sachs before it can succeed on the implied representation found by the judge.
76 As to the information provided by the subsequent reports, the judge held that that
information was not such as to make Goldman Sachs aware that the information in the Arthur
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Andersen reports annexed to the SIM was misleading. He distinguished between actual
knowledge that the earlier reports were misleading and information which "… merely gave rise
to a possibility that the information previously supplied was misleading". In my judgment, in the
circumstances this distinction was justified. The former would give rise to an allegation of bad
faith. The latter did not.
77 .... It seems to me ... that he did not find facts which demonstrated that the earlier Arthur
Andersen reports were to the knowledge of Goldman Sachs misleading.... it seems clear that
the judge found that it would have required some investigation of both sets of reports before it
could be concluded that the information in the first reports was misleading. In my judgment, this
is a finding which the judge was entitled to make.
78 In reaching this conclusion I am conscious that the handwritten note in the margin of the 19
May 2000 report and the e-mail of 21 May 2000, to which I have referred above, appear to
indicate that Goldman Sachs had some doubts about the financial position of Finelist. I am also
conscious of the fact that no evidence was called on behalf of Goldman Sachs. Nevertheless, in
my judgment, the judge was entitled to reach the conclusion that it had not been demonstrated
by IFE that Goldman Sachs had actual knowledge of information which caused the two reports
annexed to the SIM to become misleading. In any event no allegation of bad faith has at any
stage been made by IFE.
79 In summary, in my view the only route by which IFE could establish a duty on Goldman
Sachs to disclose the two reports of May 2000 to IFE is by way of a duty of care. As to that, for
the reasons given by Waller LJ, with which I agree, that argument cannot succeed. 

Can a minority bank force the majority to take particular action under the loan
agreement?

In New Bank of New England v The Toronto-Dominion Bank 768 F. Supp. 1017
(SDNY 1991) the court found that the plain language of the loan agreement allowed the
majority lenders to exercise a discretion to accelerate the loan, which also meant they
had a discretion not to accelerate the loan:

... Under the express language of the applicable agreements NBNE cannot compel the
majority lenders to accelerate and foreclose.
As NBNE itself alleges:
 The Intercreditor Agreement provides that the agent may act in certain circumstances
in accordance with the directions of the majority lenders, that is, the holders of more
than 50% of the unpaid debt under the Agreement. The Senior Credit Agreement
contains a similar provision. For example, the Senior Credit Agreement provides that a
majority of the lenders may require the agent to accelerate the loan upon specified
events of default. Defendants TD Bank, Provident and Prudential together constitute
majority lenders under both the Senior Credit Agreement and the Intercreditor
Agreement . . . .
Here, a majority of the Lenders have not directed or required acceleration or
foreclosure. The discretionary language of the operative documents authorizes them to
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refrain from doing so.
In Carondelet Sav. & Loan Assn. v. Citizens Sav. & Loan Assn., 604 F.2d 464 (7th Cir.
1979), a bank that had purchased a participation in a loan alleged that the selling bank
had improperly refused to foreclose upon the borrower's default. The court held that
where the participation agreement "specifically granted the [selling bank] authority to
determine when to foreclose," the selling bank "clearly had the authority not to
foreclose." 604 F.2d at 469. While the form of the loan participation at issue in
Carondelet differed from the syndication in this case, and while the selling bank in that
case had express authority under the agreement to act on behalf of all the participating
lenders, Carondelet, nevertheless, establishes that the discretionary power to declare a
default must also include the power not to do so....
NBNE asserts that while the agreements may not have expressly given it the right to
insist on foreclosure, the explicit terms of the Credit Agreement and the Intercreditor
Agreement must be interpreted as implying such a right.
Courts have generally refused to rewrite agreements to provide minority lenders with
any rights, such as the "implied" right sought here by NBNE, which are not expressly
set forth in the agreements..... Nor is there any basis for reading fiduciary or other
duties into agreements "among sophisticated lending institutions."...
Indeed, to the extent that NBNE's claim against the other Lenders is premised on a
purported "implied" covenant between the Lenders, NBNE has expressly waived such a
claim. Section 9(d) of the Intercreditor Agreement .. specifically provides that none of
the Lenders shall have any liability to each other for any action or omission in
connection with, among other things, the Credit Agreement or the Intercreditor
Agreement, "except as expressly provided" in those agreements. There is no question
that such a limitation of liability among parties such as the lenders here is enforceable
under California law. ..
In an effort to avoid summary judgment, NBNE has argued that the agreements must
be considered ambiguous because the interpretation advanced by the moving Lenders
has effectively created a stalemate: while Noble's default has not been waived, it has
also not been acted upon. NBNE asserts that this stalemate could not reasonably have
been contemplated by the parties, and that this indicates that the Lenders'
interpretation does not reflect the parties' intentions when the documents were signed.
NBNE's proposed interpretation is that because the Credit Agreement requires NBNE's
consent to a restructuring and because it will not agree to a restructuring but, instead,
prefers to accelerate and foreclose, the majority lenders are required to agree to
accelerate and foreclose.
However, the document specifically provides that upon Noble's default the vote of a
majority of the Lenders is required in order to exercise the remedies of acceleration and
foreclosure. There is no provision in the Senior Credit Agreement for a minority lender
such as NBNE to compel such an acceleration and foreclosure, and indeed, no
provision which even suggests such authority.
Where, as here, the meaning of an agreement among sophisticated parties is
unambiguous on its face, the agreement does not become ambiguous simply because
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one of the parties later asserts that it intended a different interpretation...
Nor should the court read an ambiguity into an agreement merely because one of the
parties becomes dissatisfied with its position under the plain terms of the agreement...
All of the circumstances indicate that the parties to these agreements were
sophisticated institutions, dealing with the central issues of their business. As such,
there is no basis to presume that they intended a result other than that required by the
language of their agreements -- stalemate or not.
In addition, NBNE's assertion that the Majority Lenders have an "implied obligation of
good faith" to accelerate and foreclose is barred by § 9(d) of the Intercreditor
Agreement and Section 12.1 of the Credit Agreement, which states with respect to TD
Trust:
no implied covenants, functions, responsibilities, duties, obligations or liability shall be
read into this Agreement or otherwise exist against the Funding Agent.
In each of the cases cited by NBNE in support of this claim of "good faith obligation,"
the party alleged to have breached the implied duty of good faith either wrongfully
exercised some contractual power to its exclusive benefit or wrongfully denied the
existence of a contractual obligation, again to its exclusive benefit. Here there is no
allegation that the other Lenders have acted in a fashion intended to benefit themselves
at NBNE's expense, but only that the two sides disagree on which course of action will
produce a better recovery on the troubled loan.
Thus, NBNE has no "right" to accelerate, nor is there any "promise" to accelerate.
Acceleration is a remedy that can only be provided by -- and exercised in accordance
with -- contract... The agreement here does provide for the remedy, but only where it is
approved by a majority of the Lenders.
Nevertheless, although acceleration and foreclosure are contractual remedies which
may not be exercised without a majority vote of the Lenders, NBNE is free to pursue its
own remedies at law by suing Noble to collect on its debt to NBNE. Section 13.3 of the
Senior Credit Agreement provides in pertinent part:

The rights, remedies, power and privileges herein provided are cumulative and not
exclusive of any rights, powers and privileges provided by law or in equity...
In summary, the language of the controlling agreements is unambiguous and no implied
obligation can be constructed, impasse or no...

Adherence To The Terms Of The Agreements Does Not Constitute Negligence Or
Wilful Misconduct
With respect to NBNE's third claim, for negligence or wilful misconduct, the defendants
again rely upon § 9(d) of the Intercreditor Agreement, which provides that no creditor
"shall have any liability . . . except as expressly provided herein." Although such an
exculpatory provision is to be strictly construed under California law ...even a strict
construction of this language furnishes a defense to the Lender defendants here.
As for TD Trust, although Section 7(a) of the Intercreditor Agreement provides that the
agent "shall be liable for its own gross negligence or wilful misconduct," the misconduct
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alleged is the failure of the Lenders other than NBNE to declare a default, rather than
TD Trust's failure to act upon such a declaration. Since no duty is owed to NBNE to
declare a default, the failure to make such a declaration does not constitute negligence.

In an English case, Redwood Master Fund Ltd v TD Bank Europe Ltd [2002] All ER
(D) 141, Rimer J. refused to hold that the majority lenders’ power to vary the terms of a
syndicated loan agreement  was subject to an implied term that the power would be11

exercised bona fide for the benefit of the lenders as a whole because such an implied
term did not reflect the intention of the parties, and such a restriction on the power to
vary the agreement might be unworkable. Rather the court should assess whether the
power was being exercised in good faith for the purpose for which it was conferred. I
am including a very long excerpt from this decision because the facts are very complex.
But note that this case is related to the issues in the Elliot cases we looked at earlier
and the EMCA model clauses. Any time there may be conflicts between the interests of
different groups and a majority has the power to decide outcomes these issues will
arise (this is like the close corporation situation where a majority’s power to take action
may be limited by reference to ideas of good faith). Consider the excerpts from the
judgment. Do you agree with the judge about the appropriate approach to this
issue?

9. Clause 2.1 of the facility agreement provided for three separate facilities to be available to
the borrowers: Facility A (hereafter, but not always, simply "A"), a revolving credit facility of Euro
750m; Facility B ("B"), a term facility of Euro 2.75 billion; and Facility C ("C"), a term facility of
US$3475m and Euro 95m. Schedule 1, Part II, set out the proportions in which each lender
assumed commitments under the three facilities. Fifteen of the 38 lenders assumed C
commitments; and 26 lenders (including three who had assumed C commitments) assumed A
and B commitments: no lender assumed an A or B commitment without also assuming the
other. The amounts of the A and B commitments varied as between the lenders, but in each
case the lender's B commitment was 3.66 times the amount of its A commitment, with each
lender holding the same proportionate A commitment as it did a B commitment. That is of some
significance, because if the position had remained the same down to the time of the modified
waiver letter, it is improbable that any complaint of the type raised in this action could have
arisen. The complaint has arisen because, since the date of the facility agreement, the
commitments have been the subject of dealings on the secondary debt market, so that the
position by the time of the modified waiver letter was that not all lenders held similarly
proportionate A and B commitments. By then, a minority in number and value of lenders
(including the claimants) held only A commitments, or else held A commitments in proportions
exceeding those of their B commitments....

The cross-default
22. UPCNV was due to pay interest on its bonds on 1 February 2002, although it had a period

 The borrower in this case was United Pan-European Communications NV. 
11
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of grace (expiring on 3 March -2002).within which to pay. By January 2002, a question had
arisen as to whether it would pay that interest. Its failure to do so would constitute a
cross-default under the facility agreement for the purposes of clause 18. Subject only to any
agreed waivers which might be agreed under clause 25, the effect of that would be, amongst
other things, to absolve the lenders from any obligation to make further advances under the
facility agreement. This was because the cross-default would be an "event of default" under the
facility agreement for the purposes of the condition precedent imposed by clause 4.2(b). In
addition, any such default would subject the borrowers to the risk of the acceleration provisions
of clause 18.21.
23. The risk of a default in the payment of the interest due on the bonds - and the default itself
when in due course (as it did) it happened - were therefore potentially serious, matters as
regards the UPCD group, which was dependent, for its cash needs on the facility agreement.
They were of course also potentially serious matters for UPCNV itself, and they led to
negotiations between UPCNV and its bondholders with a view to UPCNV's capital restructuring.
These negotiations occupied the succeeding months, until eventually on 30 September 2002 a
formal agreement was concluded as to the way forward, although it was not one that finally
resolved the matter. The achievement of the proposed restructuring was going to, and still
does, require both Chapter 11 proceedings in the USA, and "Akkoord" proceedings in the
Netherlands.. The action is concerned solely with the effect of UPCNV's cross-default on the
UPCD facility agreement, and the steps taken since February 2002 by the majority lenders to
grant UPCD a waiver of the consequences of the default. Those steps resulted in the granting
of a series of short-term temporary waivers, expiring on 27 September, and ultimately in the
modified waiver letter signed on that day, about which the claimants complain.

The original waiver letter
24. Recognising the problems which would arise in the event of a cross-default by UPCNV,
towards the end of January 2002 Mr Okhuijsen (the treasurer of the UPC group, including
UPCD) and Mr Evans (a managing director of the legal department of UPCNV) contacted Mr
Bingham and Mr McPherson of the TD Bank group, in particular in their capacity as spokesmen
for TD Bel, the facility agent. They warned of the risk of a cross-default and asked TD Bel to
take the lead in co-ordinating the banks' response to UPCD's request for a waiver of the default
provisions should the need arise. On 1 February, Mr Okhuijsen told Mr M0herson that UPCNV
would not be making the interest payments due on that day.
25. As a result of this, TD Bank and another lender, J P Morgan Chase ("JPMC"), decided that
an ad hoc committee of lending banks would need to be established to conduct the waiver
negotiations on behalf of the lenders generally. The first meeting . of the lenders took place on
6 February. TD Bel convened the meeting, by notice given only to those lenders entitled to
receive non-public information about UPCD's finances. This circulation was so restricted
because the meeting would be discussing such non-public information. I shall, for brevity, refer
to this class of lenders as "non-public lenders." The reason that other lenders ("public lenders")
were not entitled to the like information was because they traded in public securities, and for
them to trade in UPC group stocks whilst in possession of non-public information could put
them in breach of SEC regulations. This was not necessarily a bar to their receipt of such
information, provided that they had first set up necessary Chinese walls or other mechanisms
enabling them to receive it, but the onus was on them to notify TD Bel (as facility agent) they
were so able. In fact, only a small percentage of lenders were public lenders. The only
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claimants who were parties (by novation) to the facility agreement at this stage were Goldentree
MF and Goldentree Opportunities (the fourth and fifth claimants): the former held Euro 3 53m of
B paper and the latter held Euro 1m of A paper. As they had not notified TD Bel that they were
entitled to receive non-public information, they were not on the circulation list for the meeting.
26. I find that as early as this meeting the lenders expressed their wish that a term of any
waiver to be granted to UPCD should be the overall reduction of the facility (it is the facility
reduction that was ultimately achieved by the modified waiver letter which has given rise to all
the trouble). The meeting approved the establishment of an ad hoc co-ordinating committee of
lenders ("the CCL") comprising TD Bank, JPMC, The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc, Fortis Bank
(Nederland) NV and Bank of America NA. The CCL's function was to negotiate with UPCD on
behalf of those lenders supporting its role ("the consenting lenders'), which in fact represented
an overwhelming majority in value of all lenders. The negotiations were conducted primarily by
Mr Bingham and Mr McPherson (both of TD Bank) for the CCL and Mr Evans and Mr Okhuijsen
for UPCD.
27. These negotiations led to the agreement of a temporary waiver on the terms of a letter from
TD Bel to UPCD dated 1 March 2002 ("the original waiver letter). UPCNV had not in fact
committed a cross-default by then (because the grace period was still running) but it did commit
it on 3 March, when the period expired. The letter, therefore, strictly operated as an anticipatory
waiver of the consequences of UPCNV's expected default. The waiver was for a limited period
expiring on 3 June 2002 at the latest: subject to any further waivers, it would then be open to
the lenders to exercise all their rights under the facility agreement.
28. The letter reflected the views of the consenting lenders. It referred to the establishment of
the CCL. It imposed various conditions on UPCD. One was that by 1 March 2002 Euro 100m of
outside money should have been injected into the UPCD group, by way of capital or
subordinated loans, and Belmarken duly provided this cash. Another was that (subject to
certain conditions) UPCD could draw a maximum of Euro 100m under Facility A (which was still
wholly undrawn), for the purpose of applying such advances in the ordinary course of the
business of the UPCD group. UPCD had to provide certain management information, business
plans and budgets to the CCL, and Deloitte & Touche ("Deloittes") were to be appointed to
review UPCD's business plans and forecasts on behalf of the CCL. The letter reflected that
steps were being taken towards the restructuring of UPCNV's indebtedness.
29. On the same day, 1 March, the CCL issued a letter to lenders seeking their formal consent
to CCL playing a continuing co-ordinating role, the letter envisaging (as happened) that TD
Bank and JPMC would act as co-chairmen of the CCL. 94% in value of the lenders signed, up
to the letter. Of the balance of lenders who did not. 3% had confirmed that they were only public
lenders. The third to fifth claimants (HCM/Z, Goldentree MF and Goldentree Opportunities)
subsequently signed up as well, and so received all non-public information circulated to lenders.
Very much later, so did Redwood, the first claimant.

The claimants' acquisition of Facility A paper
30. The action is based on the claimants' complaint that the modified waiver letter later signed
on 27 September 2002 discriminated against them as holders of A paper, and was manifestly
unfair towards them. The heart of the complaint is that it entitled UPCD to draw on A solely for
the purpose of prepaying part of the B drawings, at a time when (a) but for any waiver UPCD
could not draw on A at all; (b) even with an unconditional waiver, the covenant restrictions
prevented it from drawing sufficient A funds to make the prepayment; and (c) pending the
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completion of the restructuring of UPCNV (which was not expected to be achieved, if at all,
before the end of March 2003), the solvency of UPCD was in doubt. The claimants make other
complaints as well, to which I shall come, but I must first summarise the commitments the
claimants acquired under the facility agreement, and when they did so.
31. Redwood bought Euro 14m of B paper on 8 February 2002, and Euro 7m of A on 9 April. It
sold Euro 5m of B on 18 April and bought a further Euro, 5m of A on 3 July. At the date of the
modified waiver letter, it held Euro 12m of A and Euro 9m of B. Gracie started acquiring and
selling A and B paper on 10 May 2002. At the date of the modified waiver letter, it held Euro
7.5m of A and Euro 2m of B. HCM/Z bought Euro 5m of each of A and B paper on 16 April
2002, but sold the latter on 31 July. At the date of the modified waiver letter, it held Euro 5m of
A, and no B. Goldentree MF purchased Euro 3.53m of B paper on 30 November 2001, and a
further Euro, 1m on 15 February 2002. It sold all its B paper on 19 April. On 10 May, it started
purchasing A paper. At the date of the modified waiver letter, it held Euro 22.12m of A, and no
B. Goldentree Opportunities purchased Euro 1m of A paper on 30 November 2001, and bought
a further holding of Euro 2m on 15 February 2002. It sold the lot on 18 April, but then bought
Euro, 4.6m of A on 30 August, which it also held at the date of the modified waiver letter. It had
no B paper. Seneca started acquiring and selling A and B paper on 8 April 2002. At the date of
the modified waiver letter, it held Euro 15m of A and Euro 4m of B.
32. Each claimant therefore held either only A paper, or else (as between A and B)
predominantly A paper (meaning a greater percentage of A paper than of B paper). Each
acquired the A paper it held at the date of the modified waiver letter with knowledge of
UPCNV's cross-default and of the original waiver letter. At the time of each relevant (post
cross-default) purchase, the A paper was trading on the secondary debt market at a discount of
some 35%, and the claimants were paid a reverse premium reflecting that discount to take on
their A commitments. Expressed generally, since the evidence does not disclose precise
figures, for each Euro 100 they became committed to lend, they were paid about Euro 35.

The events leading to the signing of the modified waiver letter
33. A meeting of the consenting lenders took place on 16 May, at which UPCD and Deloittes
made a presentation. Its purpose was to enable the lenders to learn about UPCD's projections
for the future and determine the basis on which any extended waiver might be granted. HCM/Z
was present (represented by Ivan Zinn), being the only non-public claimant at that stage.
34. The UPCD projections presented to the meeting showed that its total drawdown under the
facility agreement would not exceed Euro 3.38 billion after 2002, and projected a drawdown of
A in 2004 in order to make the first repayments then due under B and C. Various lenders made
renewed requests for a reduction in the facility. Mr Bingham said in evidence that they included
CIBC, and probably Goldman Sachs and Morgan Stanley. He said that support for such a
reduction from others at the meeting was apparent.
35 I find that the lenders assumed that any such reduction would simply be in the undrawn
facility. A was wholly undrawn, and Euro 70m of B was also undrawn, although B and C were
otherwise fully drawn. Most lenders had interests in both A and B, and so a cancellation of the
undrawn facilities would be in their interests. On 30 May, Mr McPherson of TD Bank circulated
to the consenting lenders a list of the so-called "Asks" they had raised at the meeting. Items 1
and 15 referred respectively to "No further advances under the Facility Agreement" and "Facility
reduction to reflect revised business model." The CCL's recorded response was that its
assessment was that UPCD was unlikely to agree to a facility reduction.
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36. On 31 May, the temporary waiver effected by the original waiver letter was further extended
for a short period. I need not detail its terms, nor those of the subsequent further temporary
waivers granted by TD Bel letters of 17 June, 1 July, 15 July, 29 July, 12 September and 23
September. The need for these renewed temporary extensions was to allow sufficient time for
UPCNV to reach agreement with its bondholders as to the way forward to a capital restructuring
of UPCNV.
37. On 11 June, TD Bank made a further note referring to the lenders' "Asks", including a
reference to the request for the facility size of "Euro 4 billion to be [reduced] to a lower amount
given the revised business plan [which] shows a peak borrowing of Euro 3.4 billion." TD Bank's
recorded comment in relation to that was that UPCD's management had previously stated that
it planned to retain the facility at its then level, so as to provide it with long term flexibility. This
note was circulated to the consenting lenders, including HCM/Z. On 13 June, Goldentree MF
and Goldentree Opportunities joined with other lenders in confirming the role of the CCL and
signed confidentiality letters with UPCD enabling them to receive non-public information.
38. On 23 July, UPCNV reached an agreement in principle with its external bondholders for a
capital restructuring (UPCNV's major bondholder was UGC). A meeting of the consenting
lenders (representing some 97% in value of the facility commitments) took place the following
day. HCM/Z, Goldentree MF and Goldentree Opportunities were invited to it, but it is not clear
whether they attended. UPCD, UPCNV and the advisers to the bondholders' steering
committee were at the meeting. Those advisers outlined to the lenders the basis of the
agreement that had been reached for the restructuring, and explained the method by which it
was to be achieved and the timing of the steps to be taken to achieve it. The restructuring was
to involve an exchange of debt for equity.
39. UPCD, UPCNV and the advisers then left, and Mr Bingham made a presentation to the
lenders explaining why a further temporary waiver was required. He says a number of lenders
again asked for a reduction, of the facility, and also for an upward negotiation of the
commissions and margins payable under the facility agreement. Other lenders expressed
concern as to whether UPCD could meet its financial covenants in and after the first quarter of
2003, and proposed that these should be revised so as to be in line with its business plan. The
current waiver was due to expire on 29 July, and the lenders agreed a further 45-day extension
so as to enable UPCNV to document its restructuring agreement with the bondholders. Mr
Bingham assumed that any facility reduction would be in the undrawn A, and the inference is
that the other lenders did as well.
40. On 8 August, Mr McPherson of TD Bank sent an informal list of the lenders' "Asks" to Mr
Okhuijsen and Mr Evans of UPCD. Item 10 read "Facility Reduction/Pricing TBA". This led to a
discussion on 9 August between Mr Okhuijsen and Mr Bracken of UPCD, and Mr Bingham and
Mr M0herson of TD Bank. The former said that UPCD could not agree to any reduction in the
facility, or to its repricing, and that the CCL would have to discuss these matters with UGC and
UPCNV's bondholders.
41. This led to discussions over the following days between Mr Bingham. of TD Bank and Mr
Fries of UGC, and to a meeting in Denver on 20 August between Mr Bingham, Mr Fries and Mr
Schneider (also of UGC). Mr Bingham recorded the outcome in an e-mail he sent to Mr
McPherson on 20 August. He wrote that "After we got past the threat of nuclear war" -
suggesting the negotiations had not been easy - agreement was reached in principle that a
continued waiver would be granted until the closing of the restructuring. Three conditions were
to be imposed on UPCD immediately upon the grant of such waiver: (i) the payment to the

24



Bradley International Finance: Syndicated Loans II February 28, 2010

lenders of a waiver fee of 0.25 basis points, to be paid by a drawdown on the UPCD bank
facilities (presumably A); (ii) an increase in the margin on all facilities by 150 basis points; and
(iii) "Availability decreased by Eur 50OMM." This last was of course a reference to the agreed
Euro 500m reduction in the facility (a Euro 4 billion one), which was in line with UPCD's
projections showing a peak borrowing need of Euro 3.38 billion. Four further conditions were to
be imposed on UPCD once the restructuring was closed. The only ones I need mention are
those providing for a relaxation of the ratios by reference to which UPCD was able to draw on
the facility, and the injection of Euro 125m cash into UPCD for equity. The evidence also
includes an e-mail of 20 August from Mr Fries to Mr Okhuijsen and Mr Evans, setting out the
terms of the agreement from UGC's perspective. He described four points as having been
agreed, including "Availability: Reduced by 500 million (at time of waiver)", and three others as
still under discussion.
42. I comment that in agreeing a Euro 500m reduction, Mr Bingham had to some extent
departed from the consenting lenders' and the CCL's instructions. Both bodies had been aiming
for a reduction of about Euro 400m, but Mr Bingham argued for a Euro 500m one, on the basis
that he expected to be negotiated down. In the event, Euro 500m was achieved, and he did not
suggest to UGC that a lower reduction would do. Mr Brisby made some point of this, but of
course when the matter was put to the consenting lenders at their next meeting, on 4
September (to which I shall come), they knew the precise amount of the proposed reduction,
and how it was to be effected, and raised no objection or concern about it.
43. Mr Bingham's evidence was that, although UGC had by now agreed a Euro 500m reduction
in principle, it insisted that the details as to how it was to be effected, in particular its allocation
between A, B and C, were to be decided by UPCD. Mr Bingham said that UPCD made it plain
that it could not continue in business if the whole Euro 500m reduction was effected in A, and
he realised by now that, contrary to his original assumption (and, I find, that of the lenders
generally) UPCD would not agree to the reduction being effected simply by cancelling the
undrawn facilities.
44. Following this, UPCD promptly devoted itself to working out how a Euro 500m facility
reduction could be achieved consistently with its projected cash needs. Mr Okhuijsen asked his
assistant, Mr Nooij, to prepare a financial model and he asked him to show the cancellation as
all coming off B. Only Euro 70m of B was undrawn, so that any such cancellation would also
require a minimum prepayment of Euro 430m of the B drawings, which could only be done by
drawing on A. But the advantage to UPCD of achieving the reduction by this route was simple,
namely that as the B repayments due in 2004 were a percentage of the outstandings as at 31
December 2003, it would assist UPCD's cash flow projections if those outstandings could first
be reduced as much as possible. I find that UPCD took the view that it had a right under
clauses 72 and 7.3 of the facility agreement to draw, cancel and prepay in this way, although it
appears to me that such a view was strictly misplaced. This was because, at the time, UPCD
was in default and was only enjoying a temporary waiver. The terms of any extended waiver
were dependent on agreement with the lenders, so that UPCD's rights under the facility
agreement were more limited than it may have thought.
45. At the same time as UPCD was working on its own financial model, TD Bank was working
out for itself how the facility reduction might be achieved. By 22 August, Mr McPherson had
calculated that, in light of UPCD's figures for 2003 and 2004 (UPCD had not provided figures
for any later years), the reduction would have to fall mainly on the drawn facilities (B and C) and
not just on the undrawn A, and so would require some prepayments. At 1.37 pm on 22 August,
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he sent an e-mail to Mr Bingham. enclosing a model he had prepared, saying that it "shows all
B but to make it work cash flow wise it will probably be Euro 100 A, Euro 350 B and Euro 50 C.
(B & C don't make much difference but I think we need to offer something to get the C lenders
onside)." His last comment reflected that the proposed reduction would necessarily involve
prepayments of drawn facilities, and the 'lenders' support for the proposal might depend on
their being given a share of it.
46. On the same day, 22 August, Mr Nooij told Mr Okhuijsen that his further thoughts revealed
that UPCD's repayment profile would be substantially improved if the reduction were effected by
cancelling Euro 83m of A and Euro, 417m of B. Mr Okhuijsen was satisfied that this was the
optimal solution and he telephoned Mr McPherson that evening to tell him. Mr Nooij and Mr
McPherson had, therefore, been independently thinking along similar lines. Mr Okhuijsen
explained in evidence that the benefit of the proposed allocation was that it optimised the
repayment profile under the facility agreement, and hence UPCD's ability to continue in
business and ultimately to repay all lenders in full.
47. At some uncertain point TD Bank had raised with UPCD that part of any prepayment should
also be allocated to the C lenders, but on 23 August, Mr Nooij advised Mr Okhuijsen that there
was good reason for not prepaying and cancelling any of C, namely that it would result in higher
repayments in 2004 and 2005 (the detailed reasons why do not matter). On the same day, Mr
Okhuijsen sent TD Bank a revised model showing the proposed cancellation of A and B, and
the prepayment of the latter. The model showed the drawdown on A that would be necessary in
order to make the B prepayment. Mr Okhuijsen also spoke to Mr Bingham and Mr McPherson
on the telephone, although according to Mr Okhuijsen their conversation did not concentrate on
the allocation of the facility reduction, and he says that Mr Bingham and Mr McPherson
expressed no concern about it. It focused rather on UPCD's short term liquidity needs, the
banking covenants and its ability to carry out currency and interest hedging. This aspect of the
discussion (relating in particular to the banking covenants) was directed to enabling UPCD -to
draw down in 2002 the full Euro 100m provided for by the original waiver letter rather than just
Euro 67m, which was the limit in practice permitted by the constraints of the covenants. Mr
Bingham's evidence was that he agreed with Mr Okhuijsen that TD Bank would put Mr Nooij's
model to the CCL for discussion and consideration. Mr Okhuijsen accepted in
cross-examination that he explained during this conversation that nothing would be going to the
C lenders.
48. On 27 August, Mr McPherson circulated to the CCL members his perception of the details
of the terms of the proposed waiver. These included the waiver fee to lenders, the margin
increase and a Euro 500m reduction. As to the last, Mr McPherson said that exact split was yet
to be confirmed, but was:
"... likely to comprise Tranche A reduced by Euro 83.3MM (11.1%), Tranche B Euro 366.7 MM
(13.3%) and Tranche C Euro 50 MM (11.3%). Please note any voluntary
prepayment/cancellation does not have to be made on a pro-rata basis as the company has the
option of prepaying/cancelling individual tranches (Clauses 7.2 & 73 of the Facility Agreement)."
49. Mr McPherson explained further that, in consideration of agreeing to this, the lenders would
be asked to agree to a covenant relaxation so as to enable Euro 100m to be available to UPCD
during 2002. He explained that UPCD was in the course of obtaining bondholder approval to the
package, and that the CCL should contemplate distributing it to the lenders prior to the meeting
fixed for the following week. It appears that, although UPCD was clear (and had already told TD
Bank) that the optimal allocation of the Euro 500m reduction could not include the C lenders,
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TD Bank was of the continuing view that it might be necessary to throw them a bone in order to
enlist their support.
50. On about 3 September, Mr Okhuijsen spoke to Mr McPherson on the telephone. He said
that UPCD had decided that the split would be exclusively between A and B, with the
cancellation of Euro 83.25m of A and Euro 416.75 of B, and the prepayment of Euro 346.75m
of the latter (the balance of Euro 70m being undrawn). Mr Okhuijsen explained that UPCD
would draw on A in order to make the prepayment of B. There is some uncertainty as to the
precise timing of this conversation, which Mr Bingham suggests was only very shortly before
the holding of the lenders' meeting which took place in London on 4 September.
51. Mr Bingham. says he explained to the lenders at the meeting UPCD's proposed allocation
of the Euro 500m reduction, about which they raised no questions or objections. This was the
first time it had been put to them that the overall facility reduction that they had wanted from the
outset would be effected by prepaying part of B by drawing on A. Mr Brisby made the point that
TD Bank should have gone back to the lenders during the last week of August and explained to
them that a Euro 500m reduction could not be effected simply in the undrawn facilities, but
would have in part to be allocated to the drawn part. But I do not see why the matter could not
have waited the few additional days until this meeting. Mr Bingham says that, following this
meeting, there was a conference call with the US consenting lenders, so that they could be
party to the presentation which had been made at the meeting. Mr Zinn, on behalf of HCM/Z,
participated in this call. Questions were asked about the allocation, and Mr Bingham responded
that UPCD had the right under the facility agreement to allocate any cancellation or reduction
amongst the three facilities as it thought fit. In saying so, he appears to have shared UPCD's
view, although for like reasons I have already given I regard Mr Bingham's view as similarly
misplaced.
52. On 5 September, Mr Haddad, on behalf of Goldentree MF and Goldentree Opportunities,
telephoned Mr McPherson of TD Bank. He said he was not happy with what he called "the split"
- the allocation of the reduction between A and B - and complained that TD Bank may have
acted improperly. He was complaining that B was receiving a disproportionate share of the
overall reduction, although he did not assert that the facility should not be reduced at all, or that
any such reduction should be deferred until the restructuring of UPCNV had been finalised. Mr
McPherson replied that UPCD had decided on the split, not TD Bank. Both Goldentree funds
held only A paper. The effect of the proposal was that they would be required to suffer draw
downs for the sole purpose of prepaying B. So, of course, would the other A lenders, but as
regards most of them, and having regard to the relative size of their B holdings, that would have
either a cash positive or, at worst, a neutral effect. This proposal was ultimately incorporated
into the modified waiver letter, despite the claimants' objections, and I shall explain later in more
detail its effects on the various lenders. On the same day, Mr Jonathan Kolatch of Redwood
telephoned Mr McPherson and made complaints about the waiver fees being too low and that
the banks were "rolling over."
53. It was only. at this point in the course of the negotiations with the lenders that TD Bank
realised for the first that some lenders, like the two Goldentree funds, were A lenders only.
None of the CCL members held only, or predominantly, A paper. There is no evidence as to
what any of the lenders knew as to the extent to which there were lenders holding only, or
predominantly, A paper. Mr Bingham admitted in cross-examination that "in hindsight" it could
be said that the prepayment of B, was not in the interest of such A lenders. He explained that
this was only "in hindsight" because it was not until about 5 September that he learned that
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some lenders held only A. But the modified waiver letter was not signed until 27 September,
and in the meantime specific consideration could, had the CCL chosen to do so, been given to
the interests of this sub-class of A lenders. Even by 5 September, Mr M0herson does not
appear to have appreciated the potential effect of the reduction on certain A lenders. On that
day he sent an e-mail to Gregory Hurley of TD Securities, saying:
"...In effect the split over Tranche A & B is no different to a cancellation of Euro 500 MM
undrawn commitment under A as this will be drawn to reduce B. The split between the two
tranches was determined by the company to give them the optimal maturity/repayment profile
that they could achieve given the reduction being made. As Tranche A & B were sold to the
bank market on a pro-rata basis it makes no difference to the lenders which tranche is
cancelled."
Had A and B still been so held, Mr Mcpherson's last remark would have been right. But they
were not, and it was wrong.
54. On 6 September, TD Bel sent all the non-public lenders a letter setting out the terms of the
proposed modified waiver letter, of which it enclosed a draft. This reflected the method of facility
reduction that had been agreed with UPCD. The letter explained that the UPCNV restructuring
negotiations were on course, and that it was expected that the final document would be signed
by the proposed effective date of the waiver, namely 16 September. It asked for letters of
consent to the modified waiver letter to be returned by 12 September. Also on 6 September, TD
Bel circularised a fax letter to all public lenders, setting out the essential terms of the proposed
further waiver. The lenders so circulated included Redwood, Gracie, Goldentree MF and
Seneca. The explanations in this letter were short. It referred to the fact that UPCD had
requested an extension of the current waivers until the earlier of 31 March 2003 or the
completion of UPCNV's restructuring process. It explained that the letter was including only
public information, and was not including a draft of the proposed waiver document, although it
said that its understanding was that the document would be submitted to the SEC in due
course. It summarised some of the proposed changes to the facility agreement, namely (i) the
payment of 'a waiver fee to each lender on the earlier of the completion of the restructuring or 1
April 2003, (ii) an increase in the margin as from 16 September 2002, and (iii) a Euro 500m
reduction to the facility by reducing A by Euro 83.25m to one of Euro 666,750,000m; and by
reducing B by Euro 416.75m to Euro 2,333,250,000, involving a repayment of Euro 346.75m. It
did not explain that the prepayment would be funded by a draw down on A, although Mr
Bingham, suggested, and I consider he was right, that the readers of this letter would have
assumed this. The letter also pointed out that there were to be some changes in the financial
covenants in the facility agreement. It similarly asked the lenders to signify their consent to the
proposed waiver by 12 September.
55. By 11 September, it was clear that there was to be a further delay in the agreement of the
UPCNV restructuring document. TD Bank circulated the lenders again, saying that there would
be a further short temporary extension of the current waiver to 23 September.
56. On 12 September, Cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft ("Cadwalader'), the claimants'
solicitors, entered the scene. They wrote to TD Bel as facility agent. They identified themselves
as acting for a group of ten lenders, including the claimants. They were responding to TD Bel's
letter of 6 September (written to the public lenders) inviting consents to the proposed modified
waiver letter. They summarised the proposals. They said that TD Bel was faced with a conflict
of interest. They said the proposals were not in the A lenders' interests, and complained that
no-one had been appointed to represent their interests. They asked for an agent to be
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appointed as a matter of urgency. They said the proposal to use A advances to prepay B
advances was not permitted by clause 3.1(a)(i) of the facility agreement. They said the
proposals operated to extend the A commitments, a matter which was the subject of the
entrenched provisions of clause 25.2 (a point Mr Brisby conceded was bad). They asked that
the proposed waiver letter should be made public so that their clients could make informed
judgments on it.
57. On the same day, 12 September, Mr Haddad (of Goldentree MF and Goldentree
Opportunities, and who was also interested in four other funds holding A paper) wrote to Mr
McPherson asking for representation on the CCL. His. request was considered by the CCL on
13 September. The CCL did not reply in writing to Mr Haddad, but Mr Hurley of TD Securities
spoke to him on the telephone, when Mr Haddad requested the convening of a meeting of
lenders to consider the position of the A lenders. Mr Bingham considered this to be excessive
and declined to take this step, but said he raised Mr Haddad's points with the CCL at its
meeting on 13 September. The CCL's view was that it would be counter productive to open up
Mr Haddad's points. Mr Bingham's elaboration of this in his evidence was that the CCL
considered that it was for UPCD to decide how to allocate the reduction between the three
facilities, and they also had in mind that any debate about the respective positions of the A and
B lenders would be likely to provoke the C lenders into asking for a slice of the reduction. The
overall view was that this would all lead to a delay in getting a deal with UPCD, which would not
have helped anyone, and in particular would not have helped the negotiations between UPCNV
and its bondholders about the restructuring. Mr Bingham's evidence was that the CCL
considered that this could have jeopardised the restructuring. The CCL's conclusion was, in Mr
Bingham's words, that "there was too much to lose and nothing to gain in reopening the issue
as to how the reduction was to be allocated as between the tranches. UPCD had been very
adamant throughout that they would only accept a reduction of the facility if they were allowed
to allocate it as between the tranches." Nor was the CCL prepared to agree that Mr Haddad
should have a representative on it.
58. On 13 September, Redwood opted to receive non-public information relating to UPCD.
59. Allen & Overy, TD Bel's solicitors, replied on 17 September to Cadwalader's letter. They
denied that TD Bel had a conflict of interest. They denied that the proposals involved any
breach of clause 3.1(a)(i) and said that anyway the majority lenders could consent to any
necessary amendment of that provision. They denied that the proposals involved anything
requiring the unanimous consent of the lenders. They said that TD Bel disagreed that the draft
modified waiver letter should be made public.
60. On 19 September, TD Bank circulated to the non-public lenders a draft of the modified
waiver letter in its nearly final form. On the same day, they also circulated the public lenders.
They invited all lenders to consent to a short extension of the current waiver from 23 to 27
September, and to consent to the modified letter itself. They asked for the consents to be
returned by 23 and 27 September respectively.
61. Cadwalader replied to Alien & Overy on 20 September. They pointed out that all their clients
held A commitments exceeding their B commitments (if any) and that the proposed facility
reduction and prepayment would have the effect of reducing the B exposure whilst increasing
the A exposure. The wrote that:
"Outstandings under the Facility are currently trading at a substantial discount; any further
Advances made by [Cadwalader's A clients] would represent an immediate loss of capital value,
whilst the opportunity to take a substantial prepayment in circumstances where such monies
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would not ordinarily be payable represents a considerable windfall to the Facility B lenders."
They pointed out that the majority lenders' power to waive defaults did not permit them to
exercise their powers in a way prejudicial to the minority, and they referred to the decision of
the Court of Appeal in Greenhalgh v. Arderne Cinemas Ltd. and Others [1951] Ch 286, in
particular to what Sir Raymond Evershed MR said at page 291 (a passage to which I shall
come). They stood by their points in their earlier letter and said that "Notwithstanding the
purpose clause, our clients cannot against their wishes be taken from a position where their
commitments cannot be drawn due to default, to a position where they can be required to make
further Advances." They said their clients reserved all their rights in respect of the
implementation of the restructuring (a reference to the proposed modified waiver letter, not to
UPCNV's restructuring), "including the right to withhold and/or cancel the funding of the
undrawn Commitments."
62. On 23 September, a further short extension of the waiver was granted until 27 September,
so as to enable the UPCNV restructuring document to be finalised. Allen & Overy replied to
Cadwalader's letter on 25 September. They devoted two pages to disagreeing with
Cadwalader's assertions, but I find it unnecessary to detail the points they made. None could be
said, on their face, to have irrefutably trumped all the cards Cadwalader had played.
63. By 27 September, the CCL had received the overwhelming consent of the majority lenders
(81.76% in value) to the modified waiver letter, and on that day TD Bel circulated a copy of the
final form of the letter, as signed, to lenders. The letter became effective on 30 September:
paragraph 11 made it conditional on evidence that the UPCNV restructuring agreement had
been signed by all parties, and it was then that the condition was satisfied. Also on 30
September, Cadwalader replied to Allen & Overy, saying they did not consider that the majority
lenders had authority to give effective directions in relation to the waiver. On the same day, they
copied to UPCD the correspondence they had written to Allen & Overy, and asserted that they
considered the waiver to be ineffective.

The Modified Waiver Letter dated 27 September 2002
64. This is a letter from TD Bel to UPCD. It recites that its effect was to extend until 31 March
2003 the temporary waivers hitherto in place, and that the reason the majority lenders had
agreed to it was to allow time for the completion of UPCNV's restructuring. As I have said, that
was going to require both Chapter 11 proceedings in the USA and "Akkoord" proceedings for a
compulsory composition in the Netherlands. In so far as the proceedings towards a
restructuring might themselves constitute events of default under the facility agreement, they
were to be waived until 31 March 2003, and would be permanently waived if the restructuring
went through, when the slate would be wiped clean. Otherwise any such defaults would
thereupon cease to be the subject of any waiver.
65. A principal purpose of the modified waiver letter was to reduce the level of the facility
available under the A and B commitments. This was dealt with by paragraph 5, headed
"Voluntary prepayment and reduction of Commitments". By paragraph 5.1, UPCD gave notice
to TD Bel (as Facility Agent) of:
"...cancellation of a total of Euro 500,000,000 of the Total Facility A Commitments and the Total
Facility B Commitments in the amounts set out in Schedule 1 and prepayment of the Facility B
Advances in the amount set out in Schedule 1 (being the amount necessary to ensure that the
drawn amounts under Facility B do not exceed the Total Facility B Commitments following the
above cancellation)."
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66. Schedule 1 provided for the cancellation of Euro 83.25m of the A commitments, and Euro
416.75m of the B commitments, the total cancellation therefore being of Euro 500m. Schedule
1 further provided for the prepayment of Euro 346.75m of the B advances, such prepayment
being necessary in order to ensure that the amounts then outstanding under B did not exceed
the total B commitment as reduced.
67. The cancellation and prepayment were to take place on 7 October 2002. Paragraph 5.3, of
the letter provided that:
"(a) For the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that amounts may be drawn down under Facility A
for the purposes of repaying all of the Facility B Advances referred to in Schedule l."
That was included to remove any doubt as to whether. but for it, UPCD would have been
entitled under clause 3.1(a)(i) to draw on A in order to pay B.
68. Paragraph 6 of the letter provided for the payment of a waiver fee to TD Bel within five
business days of the completion of the UPCNV restructuring, the fee to be distributed between
all lenders pro rata to their then respective commitments. That was, therefore, in effect a
conditional obligation, as was the provision in paragraph 8 requiring UPCD, within two business
days of the completion of the restructuring, to procure the injection into UPCD of Euro 125m of
cash, either for equity or by way of subordinated loans.
69. Schedule 2 to the letter made certain amendments to the terms of the original waiver letter.
Schedule 3 imposed certain amendments to the facility agreement, including the deletion of
clauses 4.3(a)(ii) and 4.3(b) of the facility agreement, which were necessary in order to vary the
existing financial covenants so as to enable UPCD to draw down the A funds with which to
make the B repayments (their current effect limited the available A drawings at that point to
Euro 67m). Paragraphs 7 and 8 of Schedule 3 increased the margin. Paragraph 11 modified
the provisions of clause 17 of the facility agreement so as to relax the conditions under which
UPCD was entitled to call for a draw down under the facilities.

Subsequent events
70. On 2 October 2002, UPCD served notice of cancellation of Euro 83.25m of the A
commitments and of Euro 416.75m of the B commitments, and on the same day it served
notice of intended prepayment of Euro 346.75m of the B advances. In order to have the cash
with which to do so, it served a request on the A lenders for an advance of Euro 346.75m on 7
October.
71. All A lenders honoured this request apart from the six claimants and three small funds who
either are, or were, represented by Cadwalader but who are not claimants in this action. The
shortfall arising from the claimants' default was Euro 283m. UPCD funded the shortfall from its
other cash resources and by a short-term loan of Euro 14m from TD Bank. In order to repay TD
Bank, and to have enough for its other working capital needs, UPCD made a further A draw
down request, for payment on 14 October. This was for Euro 25m, but again the same nine
lenders refused to honour it. The shortfall arising from the claimants' further default was Euro
2.2m. On the other hand, on 21 October UPCD also made a draw down request on the A
lenders of further funds for working capital purposes. The payment was due on 25 October.
The claimants did honour this request, albeit late, by making the requested advances on 28 and
29 October. Since such drawdowns could only be made under the modified waiver letter, whose
validity the claimants challenge, those payments reflect an inconsistent stance on their part,
although they were apparently paid without prejudice to their overall position that the modified
waiver letter does not bind them. I did not understand it to be suggested that the making of
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those payments served to put the claimants out of court in this action.

The effect of the modified waiver letter on the various lenders
72. The evidence includes a schedule recording the "funds flow" on 7 October, the date on
which the A lenders were required to honour the request for Euro 346.75m in order to enable
UPCD to prepay that sum to the B lenders. The schedule lists 46 lenders with A and/or B
commitments. 31 lenders had both A and B commitments; seven had only A commitments; and
eight had only B commitments. It also lists six lenders with C Euro commitments, one of which
also had A and B commitments, and the other of which was only in B. Of the, 46 A and/or B
lenders, 29 consented to the modified waiver letter, three indicated that they did not consent to
it, and no response either way is recorded against the other 14 (which last class includes the
claimants). The schedule records whether each lender was a net receiver or net payer of funds
on 7 October, or whether the effect on it was neutral (that is, that it paid out and received
identical amounts in its capacities as an A and B lender).
73. Of the 46 lenders, the effect on 18 was neutral. This was because they held their A and B
commitments in the same proportions as originally issued under the facility letter: as I explained
earlier, a lender with, say, a 5% A commitment would also have a 5% B commitment. Such a
lender would therefore pay (as an A lender) and receive (as a B lender) the same percentage of
the A levy necessary to enable the B lenders to be repaid. Although, therefore, a total of Euro
346.75m needed to be raised from A lenders to prepay the B lenders, the effect of many A/B
lenders being in this neutral position was that the true extent to which the B lenders benefited
by a transfer of risk to the A lenders was in the relatively small amount of Euro 68,656,810.15.
Of the 18, 14 consented to the modified waiver letter, three voted against it and one abstained:
the last four were Citibank NA, Deutsche Bank AG, Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Bank Limited
and UBS AG. In an e-mail of 12 September to Mr McPherson, Gisle Bendiksen of Morgan
Stanley had observed that the reduction did not treat lenders equally, also pointing out that
certain lenders only had B commitments "and will have outstanding debt repaid without having
to provide tranche A funding." Eight of the 46 lenders were in this class.
74. Of the remaining 28 lenders, 14 were net receivers and 14 were net payers. Eight of the net
receivers (including JPMC, a co-chairman of the CCL) held only B commitments, and the
remaining six (including TD Bank) held proportionately greater B commitments than A
commitments. Subject to a twist in the tale to which I shall come, TD Bank was the largest net
receiver under the modified waiver letter, receiving Euro 24,979.184.80. The 14 net payers
included seven lenders who held only A commitments, with the other seven holding
predominantly A commitments.
75. The seven net payers who were only A lenders included Cisco Systems Finance
International, which faced a net payment obligation of Euro 32,363,333.33, the largest net
payment faced by any lender. Cisco consented to the modified waiver letter, a feature which. if
unexplained, might be viewed as significantly unhelpful to the claimants' case. However, some
late (apparently somewhat fortuitous) disclosure revealed that Cisco had a switch option
entitling it to require TD Bank and Chase Manhattan Plc to take its A commitment off their
hands and replace it with a B commitment, and with it the obligation to make the payment I
have mentioned. Cisco exercised that option on 30 September, an action which would suggest
that, despite its consent to the modified waiver letter, it did not regard the letter as favourable to
itself as an A lender. The result is that TD Bank and Chase had to pick up that particular tab, so
reducing TD's net receipts and converting Chase into a net payer. I think it probable that at
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least Mr Bingham had forgotten about Cisco's option. This group of seven lenders (those solely
in A) also included Goldentree MF, Goldentree Opportunities, HZM/Z and three other funds.
After Cisco, Goldentree MF faced the largest net payment, of Euro 10,457,980. None of these
six lenders consented to the modified waiver letter.
76. The seven net payers who held predominantly A commitments included CIBC World
Markets plc (who paid out Euro 3,152,272.73), Credit Suisse First Boston (Euro 1,996,439.37)
Goldman Sachs Credit Partners (Euro 1,277,431.17), and K Capital Offshore Master Fund LP
(Euro 551,197.20), all of whom consented to the modified waiver letter. The other three did not
consent.
77. The overall position with regard to those holding either only A commitments, or else holding
predominantly A commitments (but leaving Cisco out of account, since I regard it as a special
case) is that a substantial majority in value of the A net payers did not consent to the modified
waiver letter, although a minority (four in number) did consent to it.

The claimants' complaints
78. The modified waiver letter was entered into at a time when the capital restructuring of
UPCNV was, as it still is, in a state of uncertainty. It was not known then, is not known now and
will not be known for some time whether the restructuring will be achieved. If it is achieved, the
waiver effected by the modified waiver letter will become permanent. If it is not, there will or
may be a question mark over the future viability of the UPCNV group, including the UPCD
sub-group. It was, common ground in the evidence that if the proposed restructuring of UPCNV
is not achieved, that will carry with it the risk that UPCD group may fail and be unable to pay its
debts. To the question why, in these circumstances, did the CCL negotiate the prepayment -
requiring a drawdown on A - before it could be seen whether the restructuring was going to
succeed or failed, the essence of Mr Bingham's answer was that the lenders were pressing for
it (together with their other "Asks'), and the CCL took the view that it should obtain it for them
immediately.
79. The claimants assert that against that background of admitted risk about UPCD's longer
term viability, the modified waiver letter was manifestly unfair to the A lenders as a class, or at
any rate to that minority of lenders who, like the claimants, held only A commitments, or else
held predominantly A commitments. Because of UPCNV's cross-default, the A lenders had
been absolved from any obligation to advance any funds to UPCD. The claimants recognise
that it was open to the majority lenders to waive the default, and so render the A lenders liable
to honour their lending commitments; and the claimants had even been paid a premium to take
these commitments on. But whilst it is, or may be, one thing for the terms of a waiver to require
the A lenders to advance funds for the working capital purposes of the UPCD group, it is, so it
is said, quite another to require them to advance funds to UPCD in its present distressed state
for the purpose of prepaying the B loans in respect of which no repayments are due until 2004.
The effect of this aspect of the modified waiver letter was pro tanto to transfer to the A lenders
the exposure, and with it the risk, which had hitherto been faced by the B lenders. To the extent
that the exchange of B liability for A liability was of either neutral or cash positive effect as
regards any particular lender, the modified waiver letter imposed no adverse change on that
lender. But as regards that sub-class of A lenders of which the claimants are part, and which
became net payers under the modified waiver letter, it required them to take over from the B
lenders a real and measurable exposure at a time when UPCD's future solvency was in
question. Mr Brisby submits that there is no good reason why, even if it were otherwise
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appropriate to reduce the facility in the manner provided for by the modified waiver letter, such
reduction could not have been made conditional on the successful completion of the
restructuring (although that is not a point his clients made prior to the modified waiver letter). He
also points out that UPCD itself was only prepared to agree to procure the injection of the
further Euro 125m of outside money into UPCD when and if the restructuring was successfully
completed. Why, therefore, should the A lenders be compelled to commit their funds to UPCD
in advance of that contingency? Moreover, Mr Brisby submitted that the reduction imposed by
the modified waiver letter was manifestly discriminatory towards the A lenders, because it was
disproportionate: it reduced the A commitment by 11.07%, whereas the B commitment was
reduced by 15.16%. Mr Bingham's response to that in his evidence in chief was that these
reductions Mo not appear to unduly favour Facility B Lenders over Facility A Lenders," which
appears to recognise that the reductions do favour the former, but only to a due extent. Mr
Bingham. adds though, as is clear from the evidence, that the CCL left to UPCD the method by
which the reduction was to be achieved. Even after the claimants started complaining about the
split, Mr Bingham and the CCL effectively ignored the position of the minority A lenders,
apparently in part on the basis that their objections could not prevent the majority lenders
having their way, but I have also set out his concern about reopening the matter at that point in
the negotiations which I regard as the main reason for not doing so. In addition, Mr Brisby made
the point in his reply that even if there had simply been an unconditional waiver, the covenants
to which UPCD was currently subject prevented it from drawing down more than Euro 67m in
2002. He pointed out that the only basis on which it was enabled to draw down sufficient A
funds to repay the B lenders was. by the cancellation (in pursuance of the majority lenders'
amendment powers) in the modified waiver letter of the provisions of clauses 4.3(a)(ii) and (b)
of the facility agreement. I do not, however, understand-that to have been a point made by the
claimants or Cadwalader prior to the execution of the modified waiver letter.
80. These are the claimants' main points, although Mr Brisby also submits that there was an
additional element of unfairness in the further risk to which the modified waiver letter exposed
the A lenders, that is the risk of the further draw down of the Euro 100m for working capital, a
risk which was increased by the relaxation of the covenants enabling it to be drawn; and.
related to this, he points to the yet further risk to which they are exposed, namely that if the
UPCNV restructuring is successfully completed, it will be open to UPCD to draw on A to the full
extent of its reduced amount.

The issues
81. The claimants' main point of complaint, therefore, is that the modified waiver letter
discriminated against the A lenders as a class by imposing discriminatory disproportionate
overall reductions in A and B, and, at a time when the future viability of UPCD was in question,
subjected the A lenders as a class - or at least that minority sub-class of A lenders of which the
claimants form part - to an unfair exposure to risk solely for the purpose of removing an
equivalent risk from the B lenders.
82. Mr Brisby submitted that the majority lenders were not entitled to do that. He invokes the
principle summarised in the judgment of Viscount Haldane in British America Nickel
Corporation, Limited, and Others v. M.J. O'Brien, Limited [1927] AC 369. Viscount Haldane
said, at p. 371:
"To give a power to modify the terms on which debentures in a company are secured is not
uncommon in practice. The business interests of the company may render such a power

34



Bradley International Finance: Syndicated Loans II February 28, 2010

expedient, even in the interests of the class of debenture holders as a whole. The provision is
usually made in the form of a power, conferred by the instrument constituting the debenture
security, upon the majority of the class of holders. It often enables them to modify, by resolution
properly passed, the security itself. The provision of such a power to the majority bears some
analogy to such a power as that conferred by s.13 of the English Companies Act of 1908, which
enables a majority of the shareholders by special resolution to alter the articles of association.
There is, however, a restriction of such powers, when conferred on a majority of a special class
in order to enable that majority to bind a minority. They must be exercised subject to a general
principle, which is applicable to all authorities conferred on majorities of classes enabling them
to bind minorities; namely, that the power given must be exercised for the purpose of benefiting
the class as a whole, and not merely individual members only. Subject to this, the power may
be unrestricted."
83. That principle has found similar expression in many authorities, both before and after the
British America case, and Mr Brisby relied in particular on its restatement in the decision of the
Court of Appeal in Greenhalgh v. Arderne Cinemas, Ltd. and Others [1951] Ch. 286. Sir
Raymond Evershed MR gave the leading judgment, with which Asquith and Jenkins L.J.J.
agreed. The case concerned the validity of a resolution altering the articles of association of a
company. The challenge to it was based on the proposition that the resolution was not passed
bona fide and for the benefit of the company as a whole, which earlier authorities had
established was the touchstone for its validity. After referring to certain of those authorities,
including two decisions of the Court of Appeal, the Master of the Rolls said, at p. 291:
"Certain principles, I think, can be safely stated as emerging from those authorities. In the first
place, I think it is now plain that 'bona fide for the benefit of the company as a whole' means not
two things but one thing. It means that the shareholder must proceed upon what, in his honest
opinion, is for the benefit of the company as a whole. The second thing is that the phrase, 'the
company as a whole', does not (at any rate in such a case as the present) mean the company
as a commercial entity, distinct from its corporators: it means the corporators as a general
body. That is to say, the case may be taken on an individual hypothetical member and it may be
asked whether what is proposed is, in the honest opinion of those who voted in its favour, for
that person's benefit.
I think that the matter can, in practice, be more accurately and precisely stated by looking at the
converse and by saying that a special resolution of this kind would be liable to be impeached if
the effect of it were to discriminate between the majority shareholders and the minority
shareholders, so as to give to the former an advantage of which the latter were deprived. When
the cases are examined in which the resolution has been successfully attacked, it is on that
ground."
84. Of course, that case concerned the articles of association of a company, so that the parties
interested in the matter included not just the shareholders, but also the company as a separate
entity. There is no equivalent of the company in the present case, but Mr Brisby submitted, and
the point was not controversial, that the principles outlined by the Master of the Rolls are
equally capable of applying to the manner in which a majority of a class of lenders conducts
itself in relation to matters affecting the whole class, and this is shown by the British America
case.
85. In reliance on what he says is the applicable principle, Mr Brisby advanced his case on two
alternative grounds. He said, first, that this is a case in which the claimants could show what he
called a subjective lack of good faith by the majority lenders. Alternatively, he said they could at
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least show that, viewing the matter objectively, no reasonable lender could have concluded that
the modified waiver letter was in the interests of lenders as a whole. He said that proof of either
alternative way of putting the case was sufficient to entitle the claimants to succeed. Those
alternative ways of putting a case such as the present do, I consider, find support in the
authorities. This is illustrated, for example, by the Court of Appeal's decision in Shuttleworth v.
Cox Brothers and Company (Maidenhead), Limited, and Others [1927] 2 KB 9, one of the
decisions referred to in Greenhalgh. The case concerned the validity of the alteration of a
company's articles, being one whose effect was to deprive the plaintiff of his position as a
permanent director. The case was in part based on the claim that the majority was motivated by
bad faith towards the plaintiff. Proof that the resolution had been promoted by reasons of
vindictiveness or malice towards the plaintiff would, or at least might, have been sufficient to
enable him to succeed, since it could be said that its object was to do him harm rather than the
company good (see, in this context, the observations of Lord Sterndale MR in Sidebottom v.
Kershaw, Leese and Company, Limited [1920] 1 Ch. 154, at 161). The judge, however, ruled
against the allegations of bad faith, and the Court of Appeal upheld that finding. But the
possibility of a successful challenge to the resolution viewed simply on an objective basis still
remained. Bankes LJ identified, at p.18, the relevant test as being whether the alteration of the
articles was in the opinion of the shareholders for the benefit of the company. He said:
"By what criterion is the Court to ascertain the opinion of the shareholders upon this question?
The alteration may be so oppressive as to cast suspicion on the honesty of the persons
responsible for it, or so extravagant that no reasonable men could really consider it for the
benefit of the company. In such cases the Court is, I think, entitled to treat the conduct of
shareholders as it does the verdict of a jury, and to say that the alteration of a company's
articles shall not stand if it is such that no reasonable men could consider it for the benefit of the
company. Or, if the facts should raise the question, the Court may be able to apply another test
- namely, whether or not the action of the shareholders is capable of being considered for the
benefit of the company."
86. Scrutton LJ made observations to much the same effect. He said, at p. 23:
"Now when persons, honestly endeavouring to decide what will be for the benefit of the
company and to act accordingly, decide upon a particular course, then, provided there are
grounds on which reasonable men could come to the same decision, it does not matter whether
the Court would or would not come to the same decision or a different decision. It is not the
business of the Court to manage the affairs of the company. That is for the shareholders and
directors. The absence of any reasonable ground for deciding that a certain course of action is
conducive to the benefit of the company may be a ground for finding lack of good faith or for
finding that the shareholders, with the best motives, have not considered the matters which they
ought to have considered. On either of these findings their decision might be set aside."
87. I say straight away that I am unable to accept the claimants' case in so far as it based on
what Mr Brisby referred to as subjective lack of good faith. That is simply a politely phrased
allegation. of subjective bad faith, and appears to amount to an allegation that the majority
lenders in general, and TD Bank in particular, were motivated in promoting the modified waiver
letter either by (i) a wish to improve their own position at the expense of the A lenders, or
(although I do not in fact understand the claimants to have suggested this) (ii) by motives of
vindictiveness or malice towards the claimants and other A lenders in the like interest. There is
no evidence from any of the majority lenders other than TD Bank, and I feel quite unable to
conclude that any of those other lenders was motivated in its decision to consent to the
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modified waiver letter by any sort of considerations of bad faith towards anyone. It is not even
clear to what extent any of them (apart from those on the CCL, and those who were themselves
destined to be net payers) were aware that there were sub-classes of A lenders who would be
net payers ' as a result of the modified waiver letter. Nor am I prepared to make any findings of
bad faith against TD Bank or any other lender on the CCL. It is true that they were informed of
the essence of the claimants' concerns in September, and made a decision not to raise the
points with the lenders. But in doing so, I find that they were not motivated by considerations of
self-interest at the expense of the A lenders, or by any injurious ill-will towards the claimants.
They were instead concerned that to do so at that stage in the operation might derail the
restructuring negotiations, and they anyway did not consider that the minority's objections could
make any difference to the outcome of the waiver negotiations. They may or may not have
been misguided in that approach, which is something I will have to consider. But I have no
hesitation in concluding that it was in no manner influenced by anything that might fairly be
characterised as bad faith. In my view, if the claimants are entitled to succeed in this action, it
can only be on the basis that, viewed objectively, the modified waiver letter was sufficiently
discriminatory and unfair towards that sub-class of A lenders to which the claimants belong to
justify the finding that the letter was not for the benefit of the lenders as a whole, or cannot be
regarded as being capable of being considered to be for their benefit, or was otherwise an
improper exercise of the clause 25 power.
88. Assuming that Mr Brisby is correct in his general submission as to the actions of the
majority lenders, that will not, however, be enough to get the claimants home. They also have
to show that UPCD is similarly affected by their challenge to the modified waiver letter, since on
the face of it UPCD is able to say that it has concluded a binding contractual variation with TD
Bel, and that it is nothing to the point that the claimants may have complaints about the manner
in which TD Bel was given its authority to sign the letter. Mr Brisby's answer is that, prior to the
signing of the modified waiver letter, UPCD had been copied in on all the correspondence that
Cadwalader wrote to Allen & Overy and was expressly on notice that the claimants challenged
TD Bel's authority to sign the modified waiver letter, and of course UPCD knew the terms of the
modified waiver letter. On the facts, there is no dispute about that. If, therefore, the claimants
can show that TD Bel had no authority to sign, UPCD signed up to the letter in the knowledge
of that risk. In those circumstances, Mr Brisby submits that, if the claimants make good their
case against the majority lenders, they must succeed against UPCD as well.
89. But is Mr Brisby correct that the Greenhalgh principle (as I shall call it) applies to this case?
If the claimants satisfy the court that the terms of the modified waiver letter were not for the
benefit of all the lenders - because they were, on the face of it, ostensibly discriminatorily
disadvantageous to a small sub-class of A lenders - is that enough to entitle the claimants to
succeed?
90., If I may say so, Mr Brisby conducted his clients' case with very considerable skill, and
advanced an excellent argument to me. But the excellence of his argument was matched by the
excellence of those I also heard from Miss Jones and Mr Onions. I confess to having found this
a difficult case. But, essentially for the reasons advanced by Miss Jones and Mr Onions, I have
come to the conclusion that the principle by reference to which Mr Brisby asks me to decide the
case is not the correct one.
91. The starting point is that the facility agreement is a commercial contract between a large
multitude of lending bankers and their borrowers. It governs not just the lenders' relationship
with the borrowers, but also the relationship between the lenders themselves. The contract has
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been carefully and professionally drawn and clause 25 devotes itself to setting out the
contractual basis on which its. terms may be varied as between the lenders and borrowers.
Save for the various entrenched provisions, which require unanimous consent before they can
be altered, the lenders have, by their contract, empowered a two-thirds majority in value to
consent to changes in the facility agreement, being changes which are capable of affecting and
binding all of them. Clause 25 also empowered the majority lenders to agree to waivers under
the agreement. The modified waiver letter is the fruit of the exercise of those powers.
92. The claimants' case is that that power is subject to the general principle of law relating to
the manner in which a majority can bind a minority, namely that the power must be exercised
bona fide for the benefit of the lenders as a whole. If so, it can only be on the basis that a
principle to that effect is an implied term of the facility agreement. On ordinary principles, terms
will only be implied into contracts if, as a matter of necessity, they are required for business
efficacy purposes (The Moorcock (1889) 14 P.D. 64), or if it is a matter of obvious inference
that they were intended to apply to the contract (Shirlaw v. Southern Foundries (1926) Ltd.
[1939] 2 KB 206, per MacKinnon LJ at 227), or if they are necessary to give effect to the
reasonable expectations of the parties (Equitable Life Assurance Society v. Hyman [2002] 1 AC
408, per Lord Steyn at 458). In the present case, if the suggested term is to be regarded as
implied into the facility agreement, it would appear to me that it could only be on either the
second or third basis.
93. It was Miss Jones who bore the main burden of dealing with this aspect of the defendants'
arguments. It is of course no part of her case that clause 25 can or should be regarded as
conferring on the majority an unfettered power to act arbitrarily, capriciously or oppressively,
and she fully accepts that the power is impliedly subject to certain restrictions in the manner of
its exercise. But her main point is that to treat clause 25 as being subject to an implied term that
the power to waive and amend can only be validly exercised in a manner which can be seen to
be for the benefit of the lenders as a whole - at any rate if that phrase is interpreted as carrying
the sense of the literal meaning of its language - would be likely, in readily foreseeable
circumstances, wholly to paralyse the exercise of the power. Miss Jones submits that this
cannot have been the intention of the parties to the facility agreement, and submits that no term
having the potential to cause such an effect can be implied into it.
94. The reason for that is because the lenders under the facility agreement cannot simply be
regarded as one unified class of lenders, all with a like interest. They are split into three
classes, A, B and C, and the rights and interests of each class are peculiar to that class. I have
set out how the different commitments were taken up by the original lenders when the facility
agreement was entered into. But of course the agreement itself provided for those interests to
change hands, and it was foreseeable at the time of the agreement that, as has happened, the
original pattern of holdings would change. Miss Jones points out that it was similarly
foreseeable at the time of the signing of the facility agreement that circumstances could arise in
the future in which the commercial interests of one class might differ from those of another
class. In such a situation, it would or could be almost inevitable that any decision by the majority
in value of the lenders would or could be viewed as favouring one class over another. Put
another way, it would or could in practice often be impossible for the majority to exercise their
clause 25 powers in a manner which, viewed objectively, could be said to be for the benefit of
each hypothetical member of each class.
95. The circumstances giving rise to the present action provide a good working example of the
type of problems that could always be foreseen as capable of arising, but I consider that the
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point can be better illustrated by changing the facts a little. Assume that by February 2002 (i)
the A commitments had been so dealt with on the secondary market that most of them were
held by lenders with no B or C commitments, (ii) that the A commitments were wholly undrawn
and the B and C commitments were fully drawn, and (iii) that UPCD then committed a default.
At that point, it is quite likely that there would or might be a stark divergence of interest between
the A lenders on the one hand and the B and C lenders on the other. The latter may conclude
that the state of the economy is such that to realise their security at that point will result in
enormous losses, and that the best prospect of being able to recover all or most of their debt
will be to take a long term view, in the hope that the company can trade through its difficulties.
For this purpose, they will wish to waive the default and enable the company to draw on the A
lenders for the cash it will need to continue trading. But for the A lenders, who on my assumed
facts comprise a class of lenders most of whom have no other lending commitments under the
facility agreement, the picture is rather different. They have advanced no money to the
company; the default has excused them from making any advances; and it is probable that they
would prefer that there should be no waiver at all, so that they could instead advance their
money to another institution more creditworthy than a company in the state of distress into
which the borrower company had fallen. The situation would thus be one in which it could well
be said that it would be for the positive benefit of the B and C lenders for there to be a waiver,
but that a waiver would be to the positive detriment of the A lenders. If the claimants' argument
in this case is right, then it would not be open to the majority lenders to waive the default, since
the A lenders could say that it would not be for the benefit of the lenders as a whole. So, in
practice, the A lenders could veto it. They could paralyse the powers of the majority lenders at
the just the type of crisis point in the lending transaction at which it might be thought that the
facility agreement intended the majority lenders to be able to act.
96. I did not understand Mr Brisby to dispute that it was inherent in the scheme of the facility
agreement that conflicts of this or a like sort could arise in the respective interests of the three
classes of lenders. As I understood it, however, his position is that that possibility had and. has
no relevant impact on his proposition that the Greenhalgh principle is impliedly incorporated into
provisions of clause 25 of the agreement. His submission was that, if it should prove impossible
for the majority to be able to exercise their powers in a non-discriminatory way, then the
exercise of their powers would or might be paralysed, and that the only way forward would or
might be to attempt to achieve the unanimous consent of the lenders to whatever was being
proposed (which, ex hypothesi, is likely to be a vain attempt), or else to seek to achieve a
scheme of arrangement between the borrowers and the lenders. In short, his point is that the
clause 25.1 powers are only exercisable if they can be exercised in a manner consistent with
the Greenhalgh principle. If they cannot, then they cannot be exercised at all.
97. I feel unable to accept that proposition quite in the terms in which it was put, which would
appear to me to attribute to the parties to the facility agreement some improbable intentions.
The main, although not the only, function of clause 25 is to establish a mechanism for dealing
with problems of the varying types which might arise in the course of a facility agreement
destined to have a nine-year life. When there are three different classes of lenders, the
likelihood of differences arising between their respective interests is considerable. I have
equally no doubt that it was the intention of the parties to the facility agreement that the
requisite majority of the lenders - being a two thirds majority of all lenders, there being no
provision for separate class meetings - should have the capacity to make decisions binding on
all lenders. Moreover, often those decisions would have to be made in fairly short order, and it
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will be noted that clause 25 contains no machinery for consultation, discussion, representations
or voting, although in practice (as happened in the present case) some sort of de facto
mechanism would have to be set up by the lenders so that they could ascertain what the
majority's views are. Mr Brisby's proposition that clause 25 is subject to an implied proviso
which can operate to switch off its mechanism at the very time when it is probably most needed
to be engaged is one I do not regard as well founded.
98. Having regard to the particular terms of the facility agreement, my view so far is therefore
that clause 25 was and is intended to enable the majority lenders to make decisions binding on
all three classes, even though it might perhaps be capable of being said by one class that the
decision could not be said to be for its benefit. In the example I have earlier given, I can in
particular see no reason why (if the facts showed it was a proper and responsible decision) the
majority lenders should not agree to waive the default so as to enable the company to trade on
and, in doing so, to draw on the A facility. Nor can I see any good reason why, in principle, the
majority lenders should not be able to agree that the financial covenants should be relaxed if
that were necessary to enable the borrowers to draw down sufficient of the A funds as they
needed for the purposes of their continued trading. The A lenders might well regard that as
either actually, or potentially, prejudicial to them, and might, were the choice left to them, want
no part of it; whereas the B and C lenders would regard it as the most beneficial way forward as
far their own interests were concerned. But, in principle (and it will always depend on the facts),
I can see nothing necessarily unfair towards the A lenders in a decision that the default should
be waived and the covenants relaxed. The point is that the facility agreement is one under
which all three lending classes are part of the long term lending package, and no class is
entitled to say that it has had enough and wants to call a halt to its commitments. By signing up
at the outset, each lender submits to the decision of the majority lenders at important forks in
the road. The decision of the majority to allow the company to trade would, in my view, be
exactly the type ' of decision that clause 25 was directed at enabling the majority lenders to
make.
99. I was referred to a number of authorities on majority control, although none was of direct
assistance for the purposes of the resolution of the present case. Most concern cases in which
the persons affected by the relevant resolution were members of a single class, all with (in
theory) like interests. The present case is different, because of the existence of the three
classes with potentially differing interests. One authority which I did regard as of assistance in
casting light on the correct approach to this case is the decision of the High Court of Australia in
Peters' American Delicacy Company Limited v. Heath and Others (1938-39) 61 CLR 457. The
problem there arose out of the company's somewhat ill-drawn articles of association. Articles
108 to 111 provided for cash dividends to be paid to members in proportion to the capital paid
up on their respective shares. Article 120 provided that "Notwithstanding anything in any other
article contained" profits could, with the authority of the company in general meeting, be
distributed in the form of fully or partly paid shares in proportion to the number of shares held by
the respective members. What gave rise to the dispute was a special resolution altering article
120 so that, on a capitalisation of profits, the distribution should be in accordance with the
amount paid up on the respective shares of the members participating. The resolution was
passed, but those with partly paid shares complained that it was unfairly favourable to the
holders of fully paid shares. They complained that the resolution was not for the benefit of the
company (meaning the corporators) as a whole, because they were prejudiced by it.
100. Nicholas J, sitting in the Supreme Court of New South Wales, upheld the complaints. The
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judgments of the High Court reversing his decision occupy some 40 pages, and were given by
Latham CJ, Rich J and Dixon J, with McTiernan J agreeing. They include a careful examination
of the English authorities touching on the "benefit of the company as a whole" point and provide
an illuminating insight into the principles.
101. The value of the decision is that it arose out of a background in which the existing articles
gave rise to a conflict of interest between different groups of shareholders, and the purpose of
the alteration was to resolve that conflict. Inevitably, the alteration could not please everyone,
and the challenged resolution could not be defended on the basis that it could be said to have
been for the benefit of the company - or the corporators - as a whole. There was, however, no
suggestion of fraud or bad faith by anyone, and nor was there any evidence that the alteration
was made with the object of oppressing a minority or depriving it of its rights (see the judgment
of Rich J, at 490). At p. 495, after referring to various English authorities (including the
Sidebottom and Shuttleworth cases, which I also referred to earlier), Rich J said:
"Where the very problem which arises contains as inherent in itself all the elements of a conflict
of interests between classes of shareholders these authorities do not mean that the power of
alteration is paralysed, they mean only that the purpose of bringing forward the resolution must
not be simply the enrichment of the majority at the expense of the majority. The resolution in
the present case was brought forward to solve a difficulty and make possible a capitalization. It
can hardly be supposed that, the only solution of such a difficulty which can be lawfully adopted
is that which gives the minority an advantage at the expense of the majority. In my opinion the
case presents nothing but an ordinary example of an honest attempt on the part of the directors
to clear up a difficulty by securing an alteration of the articles not unjust to any class of
shareholders, but at the same time conserving the interests of the shareholders who form the
great majority of the company."
102. I regard Dixon J's judgment as a particularly valuable one. He observed, at p. 503, that 'It,
is one thing, however, to say that [the power to alter articles] is not unlimited or uncontrolled
and another to define the grounds upon which an ostensible exercise of the power should be
considered invalid." He then devoted considerable care to extracting from the authorities how
those latter grounds can best be identified, observing en route, at p. 507, that:
"whatever may constitute bad faith, it is evident that, if a resolution is regularly passed with a
single aim of advancing the interests of a company considered as a corporate whole, it must fall
within the scope of the statutory power to alter articles and could never be condemned as mala
fides. A positive test was therefore available, conformity with which necessarily spelt validity."
103. He then referred to the decision of the Court of Appeal in Allen v. Gold Reefs of West
Africa Ltd. [1900] 1 Ch 656, and identified it as the source of the view, which can be found
reflected in later authorities, that the validity or invalidity of the exercise of the power depended
absolutely on whether that positive test had been satisfied, namely whether "the power had
been exercised bona fide for the benefit of the company as a whole" and that nothing less
would do. Dixon J appears to have regarded that as involving a wrong turn or emphasis. He
referred to certain later decisions, including Brown v. British Abrasive Steel Co. Ltd. [1919] 1
Ch. 290, the Sidebottom case, Dafen Tinplate Co. Ltd. v. Llanelly Steel Co. (1907) Ltd. [1920]2
Ch. 124, and the Shuttleworth case. He then said this, at pp.511 to 513:
"If no restraint were laid upon the power of altering articles of association, it would be possible
for a shareholder controlling the necessary voting power so to mould the regulations of a
company that its operations would be conducted or its property used so that he would profit
either in some other capacity than that of a member of the company or, if as a member, in a
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special and peculiar way inconsistent with conceptions of honesty so widely held of professed
that departure from them is described, without further analysis, as fraud. For example, it I would
be possible to adopt articles requiring that the company should supply him with goods below
cost or pay him ninety-nine per cent of its profits for some real or imaginary services or submit
to his own determination the question whether he was liable to account to the company for
secret profits as a director.
The chief reason for denying an unlimited effect to widely expressed powers such as that of
altering a company's articles is the fear or knowledge that an apparently regular exercise of the
power may in truth be but a means of securing some personal or particular gain, whether
pecuniary or otherwise, which does not fairly arise out of the subjects dealt with by the power
and is outside and even inconsistent with the contemplated objects of the power. It is to exclude
the purpose of securing such ulterior special and particular advantages that Lord Lindley [in the
Allen case] used the phrase 'bona fide for the benefit of the company as a whole.' The
reference to 'benefit as a whole' is but a very general expression negativing purposes foreign to
the company's operations, affairs and organizations. But unfortunately, as appears from the
foregoing discussion, the use of the phrase has tended to cause misapprehension. If the
challenged alteration relates to an article which does or may affect an individual, as, for
instance, a director appointed for life or a shareholder whom it is desired to expropriate, or to an
article affecting the mutual rights and liabilities inter se of shareholders or different classes or
descriptions of shareholders, the very subject matter involves a conflict of interests and
advantages. To say that the shareholders forming the majority must consider the advantage of
the company as a whole in relation to such a question seems inappropriate, if not meaningless,
and at all events starts an impossible inquiry. The 'company as a whole' is a corporate entity
consisting of all the shareholders. If the proposal put forward is for a revision of any of the
articles regulating the rights inter se of shareholders or classes of shareholders, the primary
question must be how conflicting interests are to be adjusted, and the adjustment is left by law
to the determination of those whose interests conflict, subject, however, to the condition that the
existing provision can be altered only by a three-fourths majority. Whether the matter be voting
rights, the basis of distributing profits, the basis of dividing surplus assets on a winding up,
preferential rights in relation to profits or to surplus assets, or any other question affecting
mutual interests, it is apparent that though the subject matter is among the most conspicuous of
those governed by articles and therefore of those to which the statutory power is directed, yet it
involves little if anything more than the redetermination of the rights and interests of those to
whom the power is committed. No-one supposes that in voting each shareholder is to assume
an inhuman altruism and consider only the intangible notion of the benefit of the vague
abstraction called by Lord Robertson in Baily's Case [1906] AC 35, at p.39, 'the company as an
institution.' An investigation of the thoughts and motives of each shareholder voting with the
majority would be an impossible proceeding. When the purpose of a resolution is spoken of, a
phrase is used which refers rather to some characteristic implicit in the resolution in virtue of the
circumstance or of some larger transaction of which it formed a part or step. It is not far
removed from what Lord Sumner called 'one of those so-called intentions which the law imputes
... the legal construction put on something done in fact' (Inland Revenue Commissioners v. Blott
[1921] 2 AC 171, at p. 218). But, when the very question to be determined is a conflict of
interests, unless the subject matter is held outside the power, the purpose of the resolution, as
distinguished from the motives of the individuals, often must be to resolve the conflict in favour
of one and against the other interest.
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In my opinion it was within the scope and purpose of the power of alteration for a three-fourths
majority to decide the basis of distributing shares issued for the purpose of capitalizing
accumulated profits or profits arising from the sale of goodwill, and in voting for the resolution
shareholders were not bound to disregard their own interests. ... the resolution involved no
oppression, no appropriation of an unjust or reprehensible nature and did not imply any purpose
outside the scope of the power." (My emphasis in the second paragraph)
104. I regard Dixon J's judgment as a helpful guide as to how I should assess the attack
levelled at the modified waiver letter by the claimants, and his emphasised observations were
later echoed in Howard Smith Ltd. v. Ampol Petroleum Ltd. and Others [1974] AC 821, in which
Lord Wilberforce said, at 835, after referring to the phrases "bona fide in the interest of the
company as a whole" and "for some corporate purpose" that:
"Such phrases, if they do anything more than restate the general principle applicable to
fiduciary powers, at best serve, negatively, to exclude from the area of validity cases where the
directors are acting sectionally, or partially, ie improperly favouring one section of the
shareholders against another. Of such cases it has been said:
"The question which arises is sometimes not a question of the interest of the company at all,
but a question of what is fair as between different classes of shareholders. Where such a case
arises some other test than that of the 'interests of the company' must be applied, ..."(Mills v.
Mills, 60 CLR 150,164, per Latham CJ)."
105. I derive from these two authorities that, at least in a case such as the present, where there
is a clear potential for conflicting interests between the three classes of lenders, an assessment
of the validity of a majority decision exclusively by reference to whether or not it is "for the
benefit of the lenders as a whole" is, at any rate if those words are applied according to their
literal meaning, a misplaced one. The vice against which control on the exercise of majority
power is directed is the potential for a dishonest abuse of that power. The starting point in
assessing the validity of its exercise in any case must be to assess, by reference to all available
evidence, whether the power is being exercised in good faith for the purpose for which it was
conferred. If it is, then the mere fact that it can be shown that a minority of those affected by it
have been relatively disadvantaged by it as compared with the majority cannot automatically
mean it has been exercised improperly. Of course, if it can be shown that the power has been
exercised for the purpose of conferring special collateral benefits on the majority, or if the
obtaining of such collateral benefits can be shown to have been the motive for the exercise of
the power, that will be likely to lead to a conclusion that the exercise has been bad. It would not
have been exercised for the purpose for which it was conferred, and its exercise in those
circumstances would or might amount to a fraud on the minority. Equally, if the exercise of the
power can be shown to have been motivated by a malicious wish to damage or oppress the
interests of the minority adversely affected by it, then that too will vitiate the exercise, since that
too will clearly amount to the commission of fraud on the minority, which is also obviously
outside the scope and purpose of the power. Proof of matters of this sort may of course be
difficult, and in many cases the complainants may have no independent evidence enabling
them to level attacks on the exercise of the power on grounds such as these. They may, and
usually will, be able to do no more than point to the manner of the exercise of the power and
invite the inference that it is so manifestly disadvantageous, discriminatory or oppressive
towards them that the only conclusion that can be drawn is that it must have been motivated by
dishonest considerations inconsistent with a proper exercise of the power for the purpose for
which it was intended. If the facts are strong enough, the court may well be prepared to draw

43



Bradley International Finance: Syndicated Loans II February 28, 2010

such a conclusion.
106. I therefore reject any suggestion that, to succeed in this case, the claimants need only to
show that the modified waiver letter can be said ostensibly to have discriminated against them
and cannot, therefore, be said to be for the benefit of the lenders as a whole. I should, however,
record that Mr Onions submitted that, on the facts, the package it contained both could and
should be regarded as being of benefit to all lenders - or at least as being capable of being
considered as being of such a benefit (see the citation in paragraph 85 above from Bankes Us
judgment in the Shuttleworth case for the explanation of the latter submission). He emphasised
that the package included identifiable benefits for all classes of lenders. The reduction of the
overall facility (in which the A lenders share: the reduction they enjoy is in fact of the same
order that they were due to enjoy in 2005, but it has now been accelerated by three years) was
a positive benefit to all lenders, resulting in the lenders enjoying proportionately increased
security for an overall reduced liability. In addition, waiver fees are to be paid and the interest
rates were increased. The claimants share in all these things, and Mr Onions said that all they
are really complaining about is having to do what they were paid to do when they acquired their
A paper on the market, namely to honour their commitment to lend. But, having so acquired
their A commitments, their status under the facility agreement is as a lender, and the package
offers them, if not the certainty, at least the prospect of benefit from its terms. In addition, its
terms have improved UPCD's repayment profile, and so in turn have improved the lenders'
(including the A lenders') prospects of ultimately being repaid in full. In these circumstances, Mr
Onions submits that the claimants have failed to show that the modified waiver letter was
incapable of being for the benefit of the lenders as a whole - and the burden of proof is on the
claimants to show that the majority lenders' exercise of the clause 25 power was bad.
107. I have noted these points, which I regard as having force, but I am prepared to assume in
the claimants' favour that they are right that, at least viewed objectively, the modified waiver
letter cannot be said to have conferred a like benefit on all lenders, and that it can be regarded
as having ostensibly discriminated against that small sub-class of A lenders who became net
payers. In some cases, the demonstration of such discrimination might justify an inference that
the exercise of the power had been motivated by improper considerations that ought to vitiate it.
But every case turns on its facts, and I am unable to accept that any such inference is justified
in this one.
108. The key point in this case is that the claimants' complaints seem to be founded on the
premise that the majority lenders had a free hand as to the terms of the modified waiver letter;
that they could and should have recognised the disadvantages to which it subjected a small
sub-class of A lenders; and they should have somehow (precisely how is not identified) devised
a different scheme which treated everyone equally. The fallacy in this is that the majority
lenders did not hold all the cards and did not have such a free hand. The modified waiver letter
represented the fruit of an arm's length negotiation between TD Bank and UPCD. I find that
those negotiations were not easy, and UPCD was not prepared to give the lenders precisely
what they wanted. TD Bank could not simply dictate the terms: UPCD could have called the
lenders' bluff and invited them to realise their securities. One thing the lenders did want was an.
overall reduction in the facility, and assumed it would be in its undrawn elements. In the first
instance, UPCD would not agree to any reduction, and required that any discussions on the
subject had to be with UGC. Although UGC then agreed to a Euro 500m reduction, it also
insisted that UPCD should decide how it should be allocated. This was an understandable
condition, since UPCD had to be able to satisfy itself how it could accommodate a Euro 500m
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reduction within its cash requirements. UPCD did decide on the method of allocation, and the
result was the scheme contained in the modified waiver letter, being an allocation between two
of the three facilities, which it regarded as the optimal one for its own cash flow purposes.
109. Now it would seem to me that, in this particular context, the optimal allocation from
UPCD's viewpoint was likely also to be the optimal allocation from the lenders' viewpoint. The
allocation worked out by UPCD was that which gave it the best chance of survival, and Mr
Brisby's stance in his cross-examination of Mr Okhuijsen was that it was the only allocation to
which it could agree. Mr Okhuijsen. did not regard the matter quite so inflexibly, and indicated
that, had the C lenders insisted on a share of the reduction, he could have accommodated
them, but that is not what he wanted, and in the event the C lenders did not ask for a share.
110. The result, therefore, was that what was put to the lenders on 4 September was an
allocation on which UPCD was insisting. It had not been pre-determined by TD Bank, the CCL
or any of the lenders, and any suggestion that the lenders or any of them in some manner fixed
it so that the B lenders could benefit at the expense of the A lenders is unfounded (in fact, only
14 out of the 29 B lenders so benefited: on others the effect was either neutral, or else they
were net payers). The claimants' complaint, as repeatedly expressed in the oral evidence of Mr
Wilkinson, their solicitor (none of the individuals behind any of the claimants gave evidence)
was that the allocation involved the making by the A lenders of advances to pay B lenders. The
allocation did involve that, and it can be said to have had an ostensible adverse effect on that
small minority of A lenders which became net payers. But that adverse effect was simply part of
the price of achieving the overall facility reduction which was for the benefit of all lenders,
including the A lenders. The existence of such an effect does not, in my view, automatically
undermine the fairness of the reduction scheme as a whole, nor does it cause it fall outside the
purpose of the clause 25 power. Nor, in my view, does the exercise of the power become bad
because it was necessary, in order to implement the proposed reduction, for the majority
lenders also to amend the covenants so as to enable UPCD to make the required draw down.
That was simply part of the mechanics necessary to achieve the reduction.
111. Two further points need to be made about the allocation as between the A and B lenders.
First, complaint is made that the A facility was reduced by only 11.07% whereas the B facility
was reduced by 15.16%. That is said to be manifestly discriminatory and unfair. In my view, this
point is not well founded. The explanation for the difference is that it was a necessary
consequence of UPCD calculation of the optimal allocation. It was not being imposed on the A
lenders by the majority lenders, it was in effect being imposed on all the lenders by UPCD.
Equality across the board was not the exercise that UPCD was trying to achieve; it was trying to
achieve the optimal method of effecting the overall reduction, being a reduction which would
benefit all lenders. In particular, the C lenders were given no reduction at all, but they raised no
objections and a majority of them consented to the modified waiver letter. The short explanation
for the disparity between the A and B lenders in this respect is that UPCD was calling the tune
on this aspect of the waiver,, and whilst (for its own good commercial reasons) it was prepared
to agree to unequal reductions as between the three lending classes, it was not prepared to
agree to equal reductions. It is possible that, had the CCL gone back to UPCD, it might have
been able to persuade it to agree a different allocation, although this would not have been as
beneficial to UPCD - and it was important that UPCD had a repayment profile which it could
meet. The agreement of the majority lenders to this particular disparity as part of the means of
achieving the overall reduction was, in my view, a commercial decision to which they were
perfectly entitled to come, and it was one which I consider was within the scope of the power
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conferred on them by clause 25. Mr Brisby's submission that this disparity was, by itself,
manifest discrimination entitling the claimants to succeed is one which I am unable to accept. It
can only be advanced on the basis that clause 25 requires the waiver and amendment powers
to be exercised equally across the board as between all three classes of lenders. In my
judgment, that approach to clause 25 involves subjecting it to restrictions which it cannot fairly
bear.

We have been considering the relationship between contracts and tort and fiduciary
duty. The Delaware Chancery Court addressed this issue in Abry Partners V, LP v F&W
Acquisition LLC.   The contract (a stock purchase agreement) limited liability in relation12

to representations in the contract (the contract established an indemnity fund and
limited liability to the amount of the fund). The purchaser alleged the existence of a
scheme to manipulate the financial statements of the acquired entity to increase the
purchase price. Vice Chancellor Strine declined to enforce the contract as written:

For reasons I explain, I conclude that Delaware law permits sophisticated commercial parties to
craft contracts that insulate a seller from a rescission claim for a contractual false statement of
fact that was not intentionally made. In other words, parties may allocate the risk of factual error
freely as to any error where the speaking party did not consciously convey an untruth. In that
context, there is no moral imperative to impinge on the ability of rational parties dealing at
arms-length to shape their own arrangements, and courts are ill-suited to set a uniform rule that
is more efficient than the specific outcomes negotiated by particular contracting parties to deal
with the myriad situations they face.
But the contractual freedom to immunize a seller from liability for a false contractual statement
of fact ends there. The public policy against fraud is a strong and venerable one that is largely
founded on the societal consensus that lying is wrong. Not only that, it is difficult to identify an
economically-sound rationale for permitting a seller to deny the remedy of rescission to a buyer
when the seller is proven to have induced the contract’s formation or closing by lying about a
contractually-represented fact.
For these reasons, when a seller intentionally misrepresents a fact embodied in a contract —
that is, when a seller lies — public policy will not permit a contractual provision to limit the
remedy of the buyer to a capped damage claim. Rather, the buyer is free to press a claim for
rescission or for full compensatory damages. By this balance, I attempt to give fair and efficient
recognition to the competing public policies served by contractual freedom and by the law of
fraud.

Why is fraud an exception?

The Vice Chancellor also made some comments about the impact of contracting on
liability in tort which are relevant to the Armco case (which we will be reading):

Parties operating in interstate and international commerce seek, by a choice of law provision,
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certainty as to the rules that govern their relationship. To hold that their choice is only effective
as to the determination of contract claims, but not as to tort claims seeking to rescind the
contract on grounds of misrepresentation, would create uncertainty of precisely the kind that the
parties’ choice of law provision sought to avoid. In this regard, it is also notable that the
relationship between contract and tort law regarding the avoidance of contracts on grounds of
misrepresentation is an exceedingly complex and unwieldy one, even within the law of single
jurisdictions. To layer the tort law of one state on the contract law of another state compounds
that complexity and makes the outcome of disputes less predictable, the type of eventuality that
a sound commercial law should not seek to promote.  
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